LOST IN TRANSITION? HEALTH SERVICE UTILIZATION OF IWK MENTAL HEALTH AND ADDICTIONS PATIENTS ON TRANSITION TO ADULT SERVICES.

by

Cole Bowerman

Submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science

at

Dalhousie University Halifax, Nova Scotia August 2021

© Copyright by Cole Bowerman, 2021

DEDICATION

For my Grandparents, George and Barbara Foster, and my musical muses, Anne Murray and Dolly Parton.

LIST OF TABLES	<i>v</i>
LIST OF FIGURES	vi
ABSTRACT	vii
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS USED	. viii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	ix
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	1
CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW	4
2.1 CHILD & ADOLESCENT MENTAL HEALTH	4
2.2 THE TRANSITION FROM YOUTH TO ADULT MENTAL HEALTH & ADDICTIONS SERVICES	4
2.3 THE DIFFERENCES BETWEEN YOUTH AND ADULT MENTAL HEALTH & ADDICTIONS SERVICES	ζ 5
2.4 INEQUITIES IN TRANSITION SUCCESS 2.4.1 WHAT IS INEQUITY? 2.4.2 INEQUITY IN THE CONTEXT OF TRANSITIONS 2.4.3 CONSIDERATIONS FOR ANALYZING INEQUITY	7 7 7
2.5 THE IMPACTS OF AN UNSUCCESSFUL TRANSITION	13
2.6 THE CHALLENGES IN RESEARCHING TRANSITION SUCCESS 2.6.1 THE MEASUREMENT OF TRANSITION SUCCESS 2.6.2 THE IMPORTANCE OF CONTEXT IN MHA TRANSITIONS	15 16 16
2.7 THE TRANSITION FROM YOUTH TO ADULT MHA SERVICES IN NOVA	16
2.7.1 GOVERNMENT & COMMUNITY RESPONSE TO MHA TRANSITIONS	17
2.8 SUMMARY OF THE CURRENT GAPS	17
CHAPTER 3: MENTAL HEALTH AND ADDICTIONS SERVICE USE IN A COHORT OF TRANSITION AGED YOUTH ACROSS PAEDIATRIC AND ADUL SERVICES	LT 19
3.1 ABSTRACT	19
3.2 INTRODUCTION: 3.2.1 OBJECTIVE	20 21
 3.3 METHODS: 3.3.1 PEDIATRIC MHA COHORT. 3.3.2 LINKAGE WITH ADULT MHA SERVICES. 3.3.3 IDENTIFICATION OF ATTENDANCE IN OUTPATIENT ADULT MHA SERVICES 3.3.4 REFERRALS MADE THROUGH STAY CONNECTED	21 21 22 23 23 23
3.4 RESULTS 3.4.1 CHARACTERISTICS AND HEALTH SERVICE USE BY ONE-VISIT DEFINITION OF ATTENDANCE	24

Table of Contents

3.4.2 CHARACTERISTICS ASSOCIATED WITH ATTENDANCE IN ADULT MHA SERVI	ICES
	27
3.4.3 SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS: ATTENDANCE IN ADULT SERVICES (TWO-VISIT	20
3.4.4 SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS REFERRED THROUGH STAY CONNECTED	29
3.5 DISCUSSION	31
3 5 1 ATTENDANCE TO ADULT SERVICES	32
3 5 2 FACTORS ASSOCIATED WITH ATTENDANCE TO ADULT MHA SERVICES	32
3.5.3 LOOKING BEYOND ONE VISIT	34
3.5.4 LIMITATIONS	36
3.5.5 RECOMMENDATIONS	37
3.5.6 CONCLUSION	37
3.6 REFERENCES:	39
3.7 ONLINE SUPPLEMENT TO MANUSCRIPT	45
CHAPTER 4: CONCLUSION	51
4.1 OVERVIEW OF RESULTS	51
4.1.1 OBJECTIVE 1	52
4.1.2 OBJECTIVE 2	52
4.1.3 OBJECTIVE 3	52
4.2 STRENGTHS & LIMITATIONS	53
4.3 IMPLICATIONS	55
4.5 FUTURE DIRECTIONS	57
REFERENCES	59
Annondiy 1. Variable Dictionary	71
² 1ppcnut 1. ⁷ unuot Dicuonuny	/ 1
Appendix 2: Transition Pathway Map	73
Appendix 3: IWK-NS Health Transition Guidelines	74

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Descriptive Statistics of the Full Cohort
Table 2: Descriptive Characteristics of Youth Meeting the One-Visit Definition of Attendance and Unadjusted Associations Modelling Attendance to At Least One Visit28
Table 3: Descriptive Characteristics of Youth Meeting the Two-Visit Definition of Attendance and Unadjusted Associations Modelling Attendance to At Least Two Visits
Supplemental Table 1: ICD-9, ICD-10 Codes & Canadian Classification for Intervention Codes Used to Ascertain Mental Health & Addictions Related Emergency Department Usage
Supplemental Table 2: Descriptive Statistics for Cohort Stratified by Sex46
Supplemental Table 3: Univariable stratified analysis of presenting concern by sex47
Supplemental Table 4: Descriptive Statistics of Sub-Cohort Referred Through Stay Connected
Supplemental Table 5: Characteristics of Youth Referred Through Stay Connected meeting the 1-visit Definition of Attendance
Supplemental Table 6: Characteristics of Youth Known to Stay Connected meeting the
2-visit Definition of Attendance

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1: Tiers of Mental Health Service in Nova Scotia ³⁶	8
Figure 2.1: Flow diagram outlining points at which youth stopped attending adult	
services	25
Supplemental Figure 1: Individual Transition Timeline & Observation Windows	45

ABSTRACT

The objective of this thesis was to improve our understanding of transition aged youth accessing public Mental Health & Addictions (MHA) services in Nova Scotia and identify potential inequities using routinely collected health administrative data. Specifically, we aimed to: 1) describe transition aged youths' demographics and service use patterns; 2) estimate the associations between clinical, demographic, and socioeconomic factors with attendance to adult MHA services; 3) assess the associations' sensitivity using a two-visit definition of attendance. We created a retrospective cohort of youth known to IWK MHA services from 2016-2019 and linked them with Nova Scotia Health MHA data. Using multi-level logistic regression, we measured the unadjusted associations of the selected factors with adult MHA attendance. Across both definitions of attendance, MHA-related Emergency Department use, community-level proportion of single parent households, and presenting concern categories were associated with attendance to adult MHA services. Certain associations may be indicative of inequities.

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS USED

ADA	Aggregate Dissemination Area
ADHD	Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder
CCI	Canadian Classification for Interventions
CIHI	Canadian Institute for Health Information
CAPA	Choice and Partnership Approach
CMHA	Community Mental Health & Addictions
DSM	Diagnostic & Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders
DA	Dissemination Area
ED	Emergency Department
HRM	Halifax Regional Municipality
HCN	Health Card Number
IOM	Institute of Medicine
ICD	International Classification of Diseases
IWK	IWK Health
MHA	Mental Health & Addictions
NS	Nova Scotia
PCCF	Postal Code Conversion File
REB	Research Ethics Board
SES	Socioeconomic Status
UK	United Kingdom
USA	United States of America

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First, thank you to my supervisor, Dr. Leslie Anne Campbell, for your compassion, guidance, encouragement, and patience throughout this entire process. You helped turn my ambitious ideas into something I could reasonably complete as a master's thesis. Thank you to my committee – Dr. Yukiko Asada for pushing me to think about equity in new ways; Dr. Debbie Emberly, for always coming up with solutions to our "FUAP'd" up data; Dr. Adrian MacKenzie, for your attention to detail and careful comments; and Dr. Sanja Stanojevic, for your encouragement, knowledge, and guidance, Stata troubleshooting skills, and for broadening my research and clinical interests.

Thank you to Dr. David Pilon, Debbie Phillips, Rose Walls, and the IWK Transitions of Care committee for sharing your knowledge about transitions, as well as with planning dissemination to ensure this research can truly make a positive impact.

Thank you to my family and friends for your enduring support and encouragement throughout. There are many of you that I sent excerpts of my thesis to read over, and even though you may have had no idea what you were reading, you were always encouraging and constructive. Although COVID-19 often kept us apart and ruined a lot of your east coast travel plans, I always felt the love...from at least 6 feet apart.

Lastly, I want to thank my sources of funding and data. Thank you to Dalhousie's Faculty of Medicine, who funded this research through a graduate studentship made possible by its benefactors. Thank you to the Decision Support teams at the IWK and Nova Scotia Health, namely Amy McInnis and Bryanne Taylor, for their guidance and work in creating and linking this unique dataset to make this research possible.

In the words of the great Canadian icon, Nova Scotia's most valuable export, and my most revered writing companion, Anne Murray, it's time to "spread [my] tiny wings and fly away" but I hope I have helped make a positive difference in the experience of transitioning youth thanks to those mentioned above (and more) that I will continue throughout my clinical career.

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

Adolescence is full of transitions. This developmental stage comes with a host of biological, social, and developmental changes as individuals transition into adult roles. For those who access child and adolescent mental health services, many must also navigate a transition between services, as they age out of pediatric services and enter the adult mental health system. In Canada, most tertiary public healthcare is divided between pediatric and adult services; mental health and addictions (MHA) care is no exception. In the Halifax Regional Municipality (HRM), youth health is managed by IWK Health up until age 16 for most physical illnesses and conditions, and up to age 19 for MHA care, at which point Nova Scotia Health assumes adult specialist care.¹ Ideally, care would be expected to be continuous from youth to adult MHA care. However, over half of youth, in jurisdictions such as the United Kingdom (UK) and United States of America (USA), in need of a transition fail to successfully make their transition to adult services due to difficulties at both the individual and system level.² There are currently no such Canadian estimates.

The transition from youth to adult MHA care is considered one of the most difficult problems this century's mental health policymakers have to reconcile with.^{3,4} Despite its importance, very little is known about MHA service use patterns during the transition between youth to adult MHA services in Canada, and MHA service use patterns during the transition have not yet been quantitatively evaluated in Nova Scotia.⁵ Transitions between child and adolescent (youth) and adult MHA services have often been evaluated qualitatively.^{6–9} While these findings provide rich insights into youths' experiences, they are difficult to implement across health systems and in continuous quality improvement. Qualitative studies have also identified that non-clinical factors, such as household income, may contribute to difficulties in transitioning across youth and adult MHA services, providing opportunities to investigate inequities.¹⁰ The transition period is a unique and complex period to investigate inequities, as many transitionaged youth are stuck between two very different paradigms of MHA service delivery, while also transitioning to a more independent role as a health service user. The developmental and social changes of adolescence and the transition between MHA systems may indeed exacerbate known inequities in mental health services, disproportionately affecting already vulnerable youth.

The next chapter presents a review of the academic literature about the transition from MHA services. This review confirmed that transitions represent a complex process that has not been widely researched in the Canadian context nor with health administrative data. While clinical, demographic, and socioeconomic factors have been found to be associated with successfully transitioning to adult MHA services^{11,12}, they have not been interpreted in the context of inequities and it is unclear whether the same assumptions apply in the Canadian MHA system. Our review also identified that attendance to a single outpatient adult MHA appointment is typically used as an indicator of a successful transition, despite widespread recognition that attendance declines after this first visit. Thus, longitudinal follow up is required to assess whether a transition was in fact successful and equitable across episodes of care, not only at the first visit.

The objective of this thesis was to improve our understanding of transition aged youth accessing publicly funded MHA services in Nova Scotia and identify potential inequities using routinely collected health administrative data. Specifically, we aimed to: 1) describe the demographics and service use patterns of transition aged youth; 2) measure the associations between clinical, demographic, and socioeconomic factors with attendance to adult MHA services; and 3) assess the sensitivity of these associations using a two-visit definition of attendance.

To meet these objectives, we conducted a retrospective cohort study by conducting a unique linkage of paediatric and adult health administrative databases. The third chapter of this thesis presents the study design, methodology, empirical findings and conclusions from our analysis of a cohort of transition aged youth attending youth MHA services at the IWK Health Centre in Halifax, Nova Scotia. Lastly, the concluding chapter highlights the strengths and limitations of our work, as well as identifies future directions and recommendations for transition aged MHA care and research in Nova Scotia.

This investigation of the health service use of transition aged youth in receipt of youth MHA services at IWK Health was necessary to identify how health systems can use routinely collected data to identify where they can better support youth, and what considerations must be made to help those most vulnerable to poor transitional outcomes. To our knowledge, this was the first

analysis of health service outcomes of transition aged youth known to Nova Scotia's MHA services, and one of few Canadian studies employing administrative data sources to describe patterns of care across the transition age.

CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 CHILD & ADOLESCENT MENTAL HEALTH

Mental illness is a highly prevalent health concern in Canada, with an estimated 1 in 5 Canadians experiencing mental health problems in any given year.¹³ Mental illness is often a chronic condition, with upwards of 70% of cases beginning before the age of 25, and 50% of cases emerging before the age of 14.^{14–16} Early detection and treatment of emerging mental illness is associated with improved outcomes at any age, but particularly so as youth develop into adulthood.¹⁷ Unfortunately, fewer than 25% of Canadians aged 4-17 in need of specialized mental health services actually receive them.^{18,19} In the background of a host of developmental changes, youth with chronic disease, including mental illness, must reconcile a shift in healthcare service delivery that is difficult to manage without proper planning and preparation. The transition boundary between youth and adult health systems often contributes to unmet need by compounding challenges in access to care.¹⁹

2.2 THE TRANSITION FROM YOUTH TO ADULT MENTAL HEALTH & ADDICTIONS SERVICES

Although many mental health services are offered privately, in most publicly-funded health systems, healthcare is divided between paediatric and adult services. The care philosophies and organizational structure of these two systems are often different and have historically operated independently of one another.²⁰ Youth between the ages of 16-25 are often considered to be "in transition" between youth and adult mental health services. Without proper planning and care, they are at high-risk for adverse mental health outcomes as they transition to adult services.^{21–23}

A medical transition is the "purposeful, planned movement of adolescents and young adults with chronic medical conditions from child-centered to adult-oriented healthcare systems."^{24(p570)} It is estimated that 25-49% of all youth MHA patients attending at any point (i.e., birth to adulthood) in their youth will require a transition to adult services.²⁵ Despite these high estimates of ongoing need, up to 60% of youth in need of continuing mental health care at transition age are estimated to drop out at this boundary.² A recent systematic review found that

only 24% of youth in need of transition made contact with the adult MHA system.²⁶ Of the minority of patients who made some form of contact with the adult MHA system, the TRACK study, conducted in the UK, found that fewer than 5% of patients reported a seamless transition.²⁷ Once a patient gets their "foot in the door" of adult MHA care, 16% are clinically discharged after their first appointment.²⁷ Administrative discharges, due to consistent no-shows or cancellations, are likely to be even higher. Evidently, the divided delivery of mental health services in adolescence leaves many lost in transition.²⁸

2.3 THE DIFFERENCES BETWEEN YOUTH AND ADULT MENTAL HEALTH & ADDICTIONS SERVICES

There are often policies in place to navigate this inevitable divide of services at such a critical juncture of life; however, seamless transition is rare, with differences between youth and adult systems seemingly overriding consideration of what is best for the individual.^{29,30} For example, youth MHA care is often perceived as more patient- and family-oriented, holistic, and inclusive compared to adult MHA.³¹ Youth services often consider health bio-psychosocially by taking into account social determinants, developmental milestones, and trajectories of maturing adolescents while providing services as needed, rather than traditional standardized assessments and treatment plans.²⁹ In Nova Scotia, the IWK has implemented the Choice and Partnership Approach (CAPA).³² Unlike traditional models of care which focus on diagnostically-driven treatment pathways, CAPA takes a more holistic approach to service delivery.³² Although individuals may receive a formalized diagnosis at some point in their treatment, it is not the focus of their care. The focuses of care revolve around "engagement, therapeutic alliance, choice, strengths, goals, and care planning."32 The CAPA approach is contrasted with the biomedical approach, and Diagnostic and Statistical Manual (DSM)-driven adult MHA system, which is often perceived by users as individualistic, diagnosis-based, crisis-driven, and focused on pharmaceutical intervention.^{9,20} While these differences in approaches are compatible with the social development of adolescents and the importance of early intervention, they nonetheless represent different paradigms of care which can be difficult to navigate without proper preparation and planning.

Beyond seeing different age groups and having different care philosophies, youth and adult MHA systems tend to differ in terms of what qualifies as a need for service, including within Nova Scotia. While private MHA services can be delivered more flexibly irrespective of acuity or complexity of the concern, although offered on a fee-for-sevice basis, the public mental health system is different: publicly funded MHA services provide care to those with symptoms or impairment of function warranting specialized services. Thus, mental health concerns that do not meet diagnostic criteria, or have not yet been classified and assessed using diagnostic criteria, are not accepted by the Nova Scotia Health adult MHA system due to their specific mandates.⁵

In keeping with an early intervention approach, the Nova Scotia IWK-NS Health MHA service mandate for youth outlines a wider range of eligibility criteria than NS Health's adult mandate. For example, the youth mandate places an emphasis on developmentally-appropriate, family-based treatment of "moderate to severe symptoms of mental disorder and/or harmful substance abuse."³³ In contrast, the adult mandate offers services for "confirmed or suspected moderate to severe mental disorders (including addictions), based on the most up to date DSM diagnostic criteria."^{34(p6)} In other countries with similar processes (i.e. UK), youth patients and their parents have described narratively that they were told they were "not ill enough" for adult services, even if they had a mental health crisis only a few months prior to their transition.⁹ While youth MHA treats sub-syndromal symptoms that have the potential to worsen, adult MHA may not without a suspected diagnosis, further leaving at-risk youth vulnerable to unmet service needs.

In addition to these mandated differences in service eligibility, longstanding biases from clinicians means patients may not be referred from youth MHA because youth clinicians anticipate some will not meet adult criteria, or believe the adult system will not have the necessary expertise to treat their condition.²⁷ These concerns are not unfounded; referrals for Autism Spectrum Disorders, learning disabilities, and Attention Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD) are often rejected by the adult system for not meeting diagnostic criteria, despite receiving youth services.³⁵ There are known biases and criticisms of many neurodevelopmental disorders being perceived as child-specific by adult MHA providers, particularly ADHD.¹¹ In research from both the UK and USA, confirmed DSM psychiatric diagnoses, formal risk

assessments, pharmacotherapy, a history of childhood inpatient hospitalizations, and psychotic disorders all increased the likelihood of transitioning, while neurodevelopmental disorders are often discharged to primary care or remain in youth MHA past the transition boundary.^{11,26,27,36} These known differences in transitional health service utilization based on clinical factors highlight how the lack of coordination between youth and adult systems creates additional challenges for youth transitioning to adult services, and how some youth may be more vulnerable than others to these transition-specific challenges.

2.4 INEQUITIES IN TRANSITION SUCCESS

2.4.1 WHAT IS INEQUITY?

The fact that some youth are more vulnerable to unsuccessful transitions than others under Canada's universal healthcare system prompts consideration of whether such differences are inequitable. Timely access to medically necessary health services, regardless of factors like socioeconomic status (SES), is a pinnacle of universal healthcare; yet those most in need of MHA services are often the least likely to access them.^{37,38} This is particularly true in the transition period.³⁶ Differences in healthcare access, utilization, and/or quality between individuals who need care may be indicative of health system inequities and are likely to be exacerbated by the difficulties associated with transitioning between youth and adult MHA systems.

In a perfectly equitable health system, we expect individuals who bear the larger burden of mental illness, or have a higher clinical need, to use more resources. After standardizing for different levels of need we can analyze horizontal equity, which is "equal treatment for equal medical need, irrespective of other characteristics such as income, race, place of residence, etc." ³⁹ These "other characteristics" are termed non-need factors. While past literature can guide the classification of factors into need versus non-need for investigations of inequities in access to primary care or mental health care, such work has not yet been applied to MHA transitions.

2.4.2 INEQUITY IN THE CONTEXT OF TRANSITIONS

Typically, clinical need can be inferred through variables such as age, sex, comorbidities, and health status. Biological sex, for example, plays an important role in the age of onset,

severity, and pattern of many mental illnesses.⁴⁰ While it is historically difficult to select specific variables to identify need, Nova Scotia's tiered delivery of mental healthcare (*Figure 1.1*) gives an indication of what level of services an individual needs; higher tiers are reserved for increasing need reflected by the intensity of services required, or complexity of clinical presentation.⁵ Tier 3 is where the outpatient MHA services of the IWK and NS Health focus on treatment of mental health concerns that cannot be managed via community services or in primary care. About 50% of those with non-affective psychotic disorders and/or bipolar disorders, depression, anxiety, substance abuse, and most patients with psychoses and comorbid mental illness qualify for Tier 3 services; an estimated 5% of the general adult population requires this level of care.⁴¹ While factors like age, diagnosis, and comorbidities may be used to differentiate need between these tiers, within tiers it is much more difficult, and even more so in the context of transitions.



Figure 1.1: Tiers of Mental Health Service in Nova Scotia³⁶

Tier 3 (and up) MHA services in Nova Scotia are divided at 19 years old, thus any youth in IWK Tier 3 services at age 19 may need to transition to adult MHA services. Past crosssectional work has shown that up to 80% of youth attending services at the transition boundary are eligible to transition, and only 6% are no longer in need of care, thus not all youth would be expected to attend adult services.¹¹ As youth move through services at the IWK, their clinicians may assign a priority designation to their care based on a patient's presenting concern or diagnostic category. However, this priority designation may differ between youth and adult systems. Such differences are not uncommon; in a European review, 36% of interviewed youth MHA clinicians reported differences in eligibility criteria between youth and adult MHA systems negatively impacting the transition process.²⁵ The differing eligibility criteria and measurement of clinical need between youth and adult MHA systems is one example of uncertainty that exists in defining need factors.

The Institute of Medicine (IOM) in the USA has created a widely used equity framework for investigating inequities in healthcare at the patient-, provider-, and system- level.⁴² According to the framework, non-need factors stem from "discrimination, biases, stereotyping, uncertainty, the operation of the healthcare system, or the legal and regulatory climate."⁴²

As the framework outlines, uncertainties arise whenever a care provider must make a judgement based on their clinical experience and the facts they can ascertain regarding a patient. These judgements are often aided by cognitive shortcuts, or heuristics, which have been ingrained from their training and experience. While the IOM report outlines the contribution of heuristics related to race, ethnicity, age, and socioeconomic status to inequities, we must also consider how the philosophic differences in care and professional training between youth and adult MHA services can contribute as well. As mentioned above, clinician biases of certain neurodevelopmental disorders being child-specific can play a role in shaping a provider's decision to accept or reject a transition referral, despite a youth clinician deeming it necessary. This is just one example of how uncertainties can contribute to inequities in transition success.

Even for those who are accepted into adult services, diagnostic stereotypes or uncertainty around the appropriateness of treatment may further contribute to inequities in care. In the

context of transitions, the above-mentioned biases and hesitations around neurodevelopmental disorders being child-specific is another example of how uncertainty can contribute to transition period inequities. While investigations of youth or adult mental health services individually may not identify diagnosis as a source of inequities, this is evidently not the case throughout the transition period. These considerations highlight the need to move beyond the traditional understanding of what factors constitute "need" versus "non need" and consider more holistically how a variety of factors can contribute to inequitable differences in service utilization across the transition.

Of the literature that does exist on mental health service inequities, typically, race/ethnicity^{43,44} and SES indicators^{10,45} are analyzed as non-need factors. Of note, household income is the most commonly used SES indicator in inequality investigations of youth mental health.⁴⁶ Children and youth from lower income households are up to three times more likely to develop a mental illness⁴⁶, and the degree of unmet mental health care need in adolescence is strongly associated with economic disadvantage; this likely reflects difficulties in accessing and/or navigating the healthcare system.⁴⁷ These difficulties negatively impact one's vulnerability to illness, willingness and ability to attend appointments, and are likely to interact with other factors throughout the transition period.

In a similar way, coming from a single-parent family is a uniquely important SES indicator when assessing inequities in transition.⁴⁸ While coming from a single-parent household can have a direct impact on material circumstances, similar to household income, it can also create additional barriers for communication and treatment adherence. For example, a single parent may be less available to consistently attend appointments with youth due to work or other commitments, leading to different guardians attending each visit, or cancelled appointments. Given that parental involvement in transition decisions is often highly valued by transitioning youth, those from single-parent homes may be particularly vulnerable to disengagement by not having a consistent, informed guardian to advocate for them throughout the transition process.^{9,49,50} Such familial support is crucial throughout any mental health treatment, but particularly so in the transition period as families are less often directly involved in a patient's care due to the increased need for self-advocacy in the adult system.²⁹ Without the appropriate

supports in place, youth may not be prepared or be willing to advocate and actively seek help for their conditions.^{27,51} Youth of lower SES and/or single-parent households may be particularly vulnerable to the challenges of self-advocacy and health education and thus, poor transitions.

This increased autonomy in adult MHA relative to youth MHA points towards the need for careful consideration of patient preferences as youth transition across systems. Differences due to patient preferences are not typically indicative of inequities, but this is a complicated issue in the context of transitioning youth. When patients turn 19 years of age, they are expected to make informed treatment decisions in the adult system; however, many are not prepared or able to do so. In a UK study, the most common reason a referral was not made to adult MHA services was refusal by the patient and/or their carer, despite only 17% of those refusing deemed to have no clinical need for ongoing treatment.²⁷ These choices are made while coming to terms with diagnoses of often chronic illnesses and accepting that one's mental health concerns are an ongoing issue with often life-long implications.⁵² Accepting this and engaging in health promotion can be difficult at these ages; not only can this disproportionally affect those of lower SES, but special considerations must also be made for individuals with neurodevelopmental delays. While some may argue that refusal of a referral reflects a patient preference, we must consider that those with neurodevelopmental disorders may not be at a developmental stage where they are capable of making well-informed treatment decisions, despite being of a chronological age to do so.²⁹ While the youth MHA system is often well experienced in adjusting care based on developmental milestones, the adult system often fails to recognize the diversity of developmental/cognitive trajectories for many youth with mental illness.³⁵ This represents a characteristic of the healthcare system that can contribute to inequities. While investigations of inequity often consider clinical factors, such as diagnosis, as strictly indicative of clinical need within individual services (e.g. youth MHA alone), this is clearly not the case in the context of MHA transitions.

During the transition from youth to adult MHA, need and non-need factors are not only complex themselves, but also interact in a complex manner. For example, we know youth and adult MHA services are fundamentally different in their areas of expertise. While youth MHA is often well equipped to deal with neurodevelopmental disorders like ADHD or Autism Spectrum

Disorder, they are often hesitant to definitively label mental illnesses with an onset in adolescence or early adulthood (i.e. emerging personality disorders).²⁵ In contrast, adult MHA care is well equipped to deal with mental illnesses with an onset in adolescence, but report not feeling comfortable or having the necessary training to manage neurodevelopmental disorders.²⁵ In a review of 28 European youth MHA systems, 64% of youth MHA clinicians reported that transitions were complicated by a lack of adolescent-specific competencies on either side of the transition boundary.²⁵ Consequently, individuals with later onset illnesses may be more likely to be referred to and/or accepted by adult MHA, and thus have successful transitions. These clinician biases regarding mental illnesses such as ADHD or ASD may affect perceptions of need on either side of the transition boundary, in addition to those known to exist by SES, race, and ethnicity.¹¹

These factors that contribute to inequities do not work in isolation. Whenever multiple factors can contribute to inequities, they can interact multiplicatively to widen gaps in care. The idea of intersectionality and inequity is often applied in the context of race, gender, sexual orientation, and class.^{53,54} Intersectionality theory recognizes that people have multiple identities and there can be multiplicative (positive or negative) effects from identifying with more than one social group, particularly if they are a minority.⁵⁵ For example, a youth MHA patient may be of low income, which is associated with both increased risk of mental illness and challenges in accessing care, but they may also be a racial minority, and feel mistrustful of the medical system or receive substandard care due to stereotyping and biases.⁴⁴ This individual's lived experience being both low-income and a minority race, shape their interactions with the health system and can create unique differences in care. Historically, applying intersectionality paradigms in health research has been difficult, as administrative databases do not often capture race, gender, or class, resulting in one-dimensional investigations of inequities.⁵⁶ Thus, more holistic interpretations incorporating qualitative experiences, and/or better capturing of these factors in routinely collected administrative data are needed to appropriately interpret differences in care. Evidently, qualitative literature investigating youths' unique transition experiences should guide the selection of independent variables and interpretation using the IOM framework in empirical studies.7,9,29

2.4.3 CONSIDERATIONS FOR ANALYZING INEQUITY

Inequities in access to services can appear well before the transition period begins. Socioeconomic status,¹⁰ race,⁴⁴ or place of residence⁵⁷ can preclude youth from accessing needed care before even accessing MHA services for the first time. Youth who are in receipt of youth MHA services have overcome the first hurdle of entering and accessing these services and are likely different from those who do not. Much of the mental health-related literature on inequities has focused on describing differences between those with and without initial access to services; studies looking at continued use of services, or across an episode of care, particularly in the transition period, are likely to produce unique findings.

In addition to the many unknowns regarding transition-specific inequities, there are still challenges that are common to many inequity analyses. For example, neither individual-level SES indicators nor treatment preferences are routinely captured in health administrative databases and need to be supplemented through linkages with other data sources. For example, Census data at the dissemination area-level has been used to obtain information on SES at the community level.⁵⁸

Looking at community itself as a covariate may capture the complex interplay between socioeconomic, racial, ethnic, and cultural factors on health service utilization. Communities reflect a variety of factors, beyond SES indicators, which can play a role in health and health service use.⁵⁹ Community dynamics have also been implicated in mental health inequities.⁵⁷ A variable representing geographic community can capture these factors and their relationships and can be more informative in clinical practice than individual SES indicators like income. There are evidently still many unknowns when it comes to inequities in transition success; to fully appreciate these, we must understand the impacts of poor transitions.

2.5 THE IMPACTS OF AN UNSUCCESSFUL TRANSITION

Youth who do not successfully transition to adult services, despite being in need to do so, are likely to have increased difficulties later in life. While few studies have specifically compared the outcomes of a transitioned subgroup versus a non-transitioned subgroup within a cohort, qualitative literature has given us insight into some of these difficulties and there are

known consequences of disengagement from needed MHA services. Of the literature that does exist, unmet need in the transition age range has been associated with increased mental health-related ED usage, confusion regarding medications, contact with the criminal justice system, and interruptions in employment/educational attainment.^{9,60,61} Improving transitional mental health care is agreed to be one of the most effective ways of preventing exacerbation of existing or emerging mental and physical illness by ensuring continuity of care.^{8,29,62} Continuity of care throughout an episode of mental illness is associated with lower rates of crisis-driven mental health service utilization, particularly the frequency and length of inpatient hospitalizations and ED visits in both children and adults, and higher levels of self-reported patient satisfaction.^{11,63,64} Additionally, the known interruptions in youth educational and occupational attainment from an exacerbation of mental illness results in lost productivity and prevents youth from achieving their full potential, though these are difficult to measure.^{60,61} Given the difficulties in measuring the impact on individuals, much of the transition literature has investigated impacts via service utilization.

Beyond the potential worsening of an individual's symptoms, a poor transition can lead to distrust in the mental health system and deter adolescents from accessing services in the future.⁶⁵ Some youth report feeling abandoned when their youth MHA services end and they are not supported throughout their transition process, which deters them from accessing further care.⁹ In 2017-2018, Nova Scotian adolescents aged 18-24 years old accounted for 67% of all child and adolescent mental health inpatient hospitalizations, which reflects the peak onset of mental illness.¹⁴ We would similarly expect that outpatient mental health screening and treatment would increase across this same age range as youth reach the peak onset of mental illness, yet transition aged youth show a 45% decline in outpatient visits in 18-19 year old youth relative to 16-17 year olds.⁶⁶ While outpatient MHA visits tend to decline across the transition period, transition aged youth tend to make up the majority of MHA inpatient hospitalizations and MHA-related ED use.

Mental health-related ED visits and inpatient hospitalizations in Canada are increasingly occurring among adolescents and young adults relative to other age groups, and are known to be inequitably distributed in children from low income families.^{14,67–69} These mental health-related

ED visits in the absence of routine outpatient care are unlikely to lead to continued engagement with the outpatient mental health system.⁷⁰ While this increase cannot be directly attributed to difficulties in transitioning between systems, youth engagement work in the IWK ED identified that some youth and their families utilize the ED for mental health concerns when they have "fallen through the cracks" of outpatient care.⁷¹ While some youth may prefer to utilize the ED, or use it appropriately in a time of crisis, repeated mental health-related ED visits typically reflect gaps in outpatient care; 39% of youth mental health-related ED users had three or more visits in 2013-2014.¹⁴ Given that the transition to adult MHA services often creates gaps in care, some of these visits are likely attributable to poor transitions.

Evidently, longitudinal research on the negative impact of poor transitions into adulthood is lacking, with no consensus on the consequences of an unsuccessful transition.⁷² Given the short observation period commonly used in transition studies, it is difficult to investigate the longstanding impacts. Several longitudinal studies are currently underway in both Europe and Ontario, which hope to address this gap in the literature by better understanding long-term outcomes post-transition to adult services.^{62,73} Nonetheless, researchers, clinicians, patients, and policymakers agree that the transition from youth to adult MHA is a problem, yet little is known beyond setting-specific descriptions, and a few intervention evaluations.^{26,36,72}

2.6 THE CHALLENGES IN RESEARCHING TRANSITION SUCCESS

Beyond not knowing whether transition success is inequitably distributed nor the impacts of poor transitions, within what we know regarding MHA transitions, there are often inconsistencies in the definitions and approach. There is little standardization in the measurement of symptoms, functioning, or engagement/alliance in MHA services in general. Consequently, nearly every study of MHA transitions has different criteria to define who should transition, what a successful transition is, and what outcomes should be measured.⁷² With the episodic nature of many chronic mental illnesses, clinicians themselves must grapple with identifying patients without having a standard to identify what constitutes a need to transition to adult MHA services.⁷⁴ Only 11% of European youth MHA systems reported conducting a standardized need assessment of youth approaching the transition boundary, which further complicates defining the population in need of continuing services and examining their outcomes.²⁵

2.6.1 THE MEASUREMENT OF TRANSITION SUCCESS

While the construct of what constitutes a successful transition has been widely agreed upon, disagreements remain regarding what is a valid measure of transition success. Most studies use attendance to a single outpatient adult MHA appointment as a measure of transition success.^{11,26} However, using this short observation period to evaluate transition success has the potential for misclassification, given that attendance drops off steeply after the first visit due to discharges, cancellations, or no-shows.^{11,26} Given this, the use of one visit to evaluate successful transitions likely overestimates transition success; the true goal of the transition process is for youth to remain engaged with adult services, as needed, rather than only one visit. Additionally, such a definition may also be less sensitive to inequities in transition, as factors like SES are likely to have increasing influence over an episode of treatment. While there is strong rationale for looking at a longer observation period, there is no empirical evidence in the current literature to guide the decision of what constitutes *enough* attendance with adult services to be considered a successful transition.

2.6.2 THE IMPORTANCE OF CONTEXT IN MHA TRANSITIONS

Much of the current literature has focused on regional MHA service policies via observational studies or qualitative interviews rather than implementing interventions or examining the impact of transitions from a health system perspective.⁷⁵ No known randomized-control trials have been conducted on transition interventions.⁴ While individualized accounts of the barriers and experiences of transitioning youth have been documented qualitatively, there is a lack of research on how mental health care systems impact transition success.⁸ Thus, generalizability is limited. Ultimately, the sheer complexity and differing organization of MHA services between regions, and even health authorities, makes transition evaluations difficult to accomplish and compare across settings, further justifying the need for setting-specific evaluations.

2.7 THE TRANSITION FROM YOUTH TO ADULT MHA SERVICES IN NOVA SCOTIA

Given the heterogeneity of mental health systems and populations throughout Canada, if we are interested in the transition from youth to adult MHA services in Nova Scotia, we must consider the context of Nova Scotians. For youth residing in the NS Health Central Zone, MHA services are offered at the IWK, where outpatient MHA care is referred to as Community Mental Health & Addictions (CMHA). Within CMHA there are specific care clinics for specific diagnoses such as early psychosis, eating disorders, obsessive compulsive disorder, concurrent disorder, and ASD. The transition experience for those involved in specific care clinics, namely early psychosis, are often much more cohesive than those who do not have an exact match in the adult system or remain in the provision of (non-specific) CMHA care. To address some of these concerns, in 2015 NS Health and IWK developed a set of transition guidelines aimed at improving the cohesiveness of the transition to adult services.⁷⁶

2.7.1 GOVERNMENT & COMMUNITY RESPONSE TO MHA TRANSITIONS

There has also been considerable interest in recent years to improve and investigate the transition to adult MHA services from the Mental Health Commission of Canada, the federal and provincial governments, and local organizations.^{5,77} Locally, the Stay Connected Mental Health Project began in 2013, with the aim to "culturally shift how youth and their families transition from pediatric to adult-based services."78 Stay Connected has spearheaded several initiatives to improve MHA transitions in the HRM. Despite these initiatives, there is still concern around the transition to adult MHA services; the 2017 Auditor General of Nova Scotia's report explicitly critiqued the gap created in the transition between youth and adult MHA care, recommending that "there should be a defined process for transitioning between youth and adult mental health care."⁷⁹ More recently, adult MHA services have been critiqued by the Nova Scotia College of Social Workers for the disconnect between the biomedical/DSM-based model of service delivery, characteristic of most adult MHA services, and need for a more biopsychosocial and social justice based approach that takes into account social determinants of health.⁸⁰ The report also acknowledges that barriers and inequities may be created and/or maintained through the current approach to service delivery here in Nova Scotia. Evidently, transitional MHA care and research still has room for improvement and requires further investigation.

2.8 SUMMARY OF THE CURRENT GAPS

The literature review presented in this chapter points to several common gaps. First, few studies have been conducted using routinely collected health administrative data. While qualitative studies have provided valuable insights into the experiences of transitioning youth,

these results are difficult to implement at the health system level and may not be representative. Secondly, despite several studies investigating the association of clinical and demographic factors, the role of inequities and community-level factors have been overlooked. This is evidently an important and complicated issue that requires multiple data sources to address. Lastly, most studies have used attendance to only one visit in adult services to ascertain transition success, despite recognition of some of its limitations, and the need for more longitudinal follow up in adult services. Transitions to adult services are complicated and represent a unique period for investigating inequities across an episode of care but require longitudinal definitions that look beyond the first visit in adult services to assess this. From a quality assurance perspective, it is also important to pilot methods for conducting these assessments of transitional health service use outcomes using routinely collected data. While transitions are consistently identified as an important area for intervention and improvement, there continues to be a lack of published literature in the Canadian context. Thus, there is a need to investigate the use of novel definitions of transition success, look more longitudinally along an individual's episode of care, and interpret associations of demographic, clinical, and socioeconomic factors with attendance to adult services with an equity lens to guide future work and ultimately improve the transition experience of vulnerable youth.

CHAPTER 3: MENTAL HEALTH AND ADDICTIONS SERVICE USE IN A COHORT OF TRANSITION AGED YOUTH ACROSS PAEDIATRIC AND ADULT SERVICES

3.1 ABSTRACT

The peak onset of mental illness coincides with a transition from youth to adult mental health and addictions (MHA) services. However, over half of youth who need to transition do not do so, which can negatively impact the management of mental illness. While qualitative literature has identified common themes, these have been difficult to implement in health systems research. Thus, the objective of this study was to improve our understanding of transition-aged youth accessing publicly funded MHA services and identify potential inequities using routinely collected health administrative data. We created a retrospective cohort of transition-aged youth known to youth MHA services, and linked them with adult MHA service data. We measured the unadjusted associations of previously reported factors with attendance to adult MHA services, and conducted a sensitivity analysis using a two-visit definition of attendance. We found that less than a third of transition-aged youth known to youth MHA services attend adult MHA services in the first six months following the transition boundary. Youth and adult MHA-related ED usage, receiving specific-care services, and presenting with serious and enduring mental illness in youth services were associated with increased odds of attendance to adult services across both definitions of attendance. Having a moderate area-level proportion of single-parent families was also associated with higher odds of attendance compared to high single-parent family areas. Overall, these low rates of attendance in adult services may reflect that only few individuals require a transition, or that there are logistical challenges which contribute to potentially inequitable transitions.

3.2 INTRODUCTION:

Early and appropriate interventions for mental health concerns in youth are imperative to avoid negative outcomes,^{1–3} yet many Canadian youth in need of specialized mental health and addictions (MHA) services do not receive adequate care.^{4–6} Adolescence is a particularly critical period for diagnosis and intervention, as upwards of 70% of mental illness has an onset before the age of 25.^{1–3} For a majority of youth accessing child and adolescent MHA services in adolescence, they will require a transition to adult services when reaching the transition boundary.^{7,8} These transitions should be smooth and continuous, however studies from the United States (USA) and United Kingdom (UK) estimate that over 60% of youth disengage from services during the transition period, widening the gap between those in need and accessing MHA services.^{7,9,10} There are currently no comprehensive estimates of disengagement across youth and adult MHA services in Canada.

Youth and adult MHA services differ both philosophically and structurally.¹¹ Eligibility criteria for MHA services often differ, which can leave youth ineligible or without direct service equivalents when transitioning to the adult system.⁸ For those who maintain service eligibility, service delivery is often more individual focused, rather than family oriented, and centered more on diagnosis and pharmaceutical intervention relative to youth MHA.^{11,12} Additionally, there are currently no evidence-based guidelines regarding who should transition to adult MHA services,¹³ and clinician biases regarding diagnosis and treatment are known to influence decisions to send or accept referrals, which may exacerbate known inequities in MHA care.^{7,14–17}

Qualitative studies have provided rich insight into individual experiences and identified potential inequities during transitions.^{17–19} For example, qualitative indicators of successful transitions have been proposed and validated, including information transfer, parallel care between youth and adult MHA, and transition planning.^{7,20,21} Such research has also revealed that patients' preferences for treatment play a role in transitions, where youth may refuse a referral to adult MHA services regardless of the clinicians' recommendation.⁷ While valuable in better understanding the priorities of transitioning youth, these findings are difficult to translate into in health system-wide continuous quality improvement and policy development. Of the quantitative literature, most have used referral acceptance, or attendance to a single outpatient adult MHA

appointment to ascertain transition success. However, referrals may not be routinely tracked, and there is often a sharp decline in attendance after the first adult MHA visit, which calls into question the validity of this indicator.^{7,10,14} Additionally, past research has identified that nonclinical factors (e.g., race/ethnicity) affect attendance not only at first contact with MHA services, but also across episodes of care.²² Thus, looking more longitudinally may provide a more comprehensive picture of transition-aged health service use and potential inequities. Given the importance of the transition age for lifelong mental wellbeing, there is a need to address the paucity of literature on transitions in the Canadian context.^{23,24}

3.2.1 OBJECTIVE

The objective of this study was to improve our understanding of transition-aged youth accessing publicly funded MHA services in Nova Scotia and identify potential inequities using routinely collected health administrative data. Specifically, we aimed to: 1) describe demographics and service use patterns of transition-aged youth; 2) estimate the associations between clinical, demographic, and socioeconomic characteristics and health service use with attendance to adult MHA services; and 3) assess the sensitivity of these associations using a two-visit definition of attendance.

3.3 METHODS:

3.3.1 PEDIATRIC MHA COHORT

A retrospective cohort of transition-aged (18.5-19.5 years) youth was created using data housed at the IWK Health Centre, a paediatric health centre in Halifax, Nova Scotia (NS) providing child and adolescent MHA services for youth up to their 19th birthday. To be eligible, youth were required to have lived within the NS Health Central Zone, which encompasses Halifax and surrounding areas, and attended at least one outpatient youth MHA appointment between April 2016 to August 2019 at the transition age of 18.5-19.5 years (n=664). The lower bound of 18.5 years reflects the earliest age a transition to adult MHA services can be initiated, with age 19 years being the formal paediatric age cut off within the NS MHA system. Youth must have held a valid health card from any Canadian province/territory at the time of their IWK appointment.

Demographic and clinical characteristics (sex, age, presenting concern, priority status, clinic type) were collected from youths' last IWK MHA visit. Presenting concern was coded as yes/no for each of the following types: serious and enduring mental disorders (schizophrenia, Axis II disorders, bipolar disorders); emotional/neurotic disorders (anxiety and/or depressive disorders); eating disorders; neurodevelopmental disorders (autism spectrum disorders, conduct disorders, attention deficit and hyperactivity disorder (ADHD)); to be determined. We differentiated between specific care clinics (e.g., NS Early Psychosis Program) and Community MHA (nonspecific) clinics, as specific care clinics have more streamlined transition processes to adult MHA services than Community MHA. We also collected any (yes/no) IWK or Nova Scotia Health MHA-related ED use in the year prior to one's 19th birthday, as ascertained from International Classification of Diseases (ICD-10)²⁵ diagnostic and assessment codes and Canadian Classification for Interventions²⁶ counselling codes (Supplement). Census data on geography (aggregate dissemination area (ADA)) and dissemination-area (DA) level socioeconomic factors (median household income, percentage of single parent families) from the 2016 Canadian Census of Population were linked to each youth's home DA via six-digit postal code using the Postal Code Conversion File[®].²⁷

3.3.2 LINKAGE WITH ADULT MHA SERVICES

IWK records for the cohort were linked by health card number with Central Zone outpatient adult MHA appointment and MHA-related Emergency Department (ED) visit data housed at Nova Scotia Health, which provides MHA services for adults across the province. Adult MHArelated ED visits within six months following the 19th birthday were identified by presenting concern or *International Classification of Diseases* (ICD-10)²⁵ discharge diagnoses (detailed information in *Supplement*). We defined repeat ED users as youth who attended the ED for a MHA-related concern at least three times within the six month observation period, as this may reflect challenges and gaps in community care.¹ The study observation window ended in March 2020 to allow for sufficient follow-up time in adult services and avoid introducing confounding from the COVID-19 pandemic.

3.3.3 IDENTIFICATION OF ATTENDANCE IN OUTPATIENT ADULT MHA SERVICES

Our outcome of interest was attendance to outpatient adult MHA services, which was defined as attendance to at least one adult outpatient MHA appointment within six months following the 19th birthday (**one-visit definition**). We also conducted a sensitivity analysis of the definition, considering attendance to at least two adult outpatient MHA appointments within this same time frame (**two-visit definition**).

3.3.4 REFERRALS MADE THROUGH STAY CONNECTED

For a subset of youth (n=54), we could identify whether a referral from IWK to Nova Scotia Health MHA services was made through the Stay Connected Mental Health Project, which provides additional support and evaluation of transitioning youth; as a sensitivity analysis, these individuals were further analyzed as a subset of the main cohort, as they likely had improved transitions to adult services and we were able to confidently identify this group as needing to transition.

3.3.5 STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

To meet objective 1, we summarized the demographic, clinical, and socioeconomic characteristics of the full IWK MHA cohort along with their health service use (frequencies of their adult MHA outpatient use and ED service use). To meet objective 2, we first described the demographic, clinical, and socioeconomic characteristics as well as the health service use by transition success measured by adult MHA service attendance using the one-visit definition. We then estimated the unadjusted associations between attending adult MHA services and each of the independent variables, sex, presenting concern (yes/no for each category), clinic type, priority status, youth ED use, adult ED use, DA-level median household income, and DA-level proportion of single parent household (quartiles) using multi-level logistic regression models with ADA as a random intercept to account for community clustering. These independent variables were selected based on their hypothesized role in the transition period and reported irrespective of statistical significance. If there were fewer than five youth in an ADA, we replaced their ADA with the most socioeconomically similar neighbouring ADA. From the null model (including only the random intercept), we included each independent variable individually to measure unadjusted associations with attendance to adult MHA services. We did not run

adjusted models due to low power. To investigate if the association between attendance to adult MHA services and each of the presenting concerns differed by sex, we also ran sex-stratified analyses. To address objective 3, we repeated all analyses using the two-visit definition of attendance to adult MHA services.

Lastly, as a sensitivity analysis, we repeated all analyses for the Stay Connected sub-cohort. Due to small sample size, it was not feasible to create multi-level nor stratified models in this sub-cohort. Instead, we created a logistic regression model with robust standard errors to provide a conservative estimate of confidence intervals given potential small magnitude clustering.

This study was approved by the IWK Health (*REB#1026393*) and NS Health (*REB#1026611*) Research Ethics Boards. All analyses were conducted using Stata version 16 (StataCorp, College Station, TX).

3.4 RESULTS

Figure 2.1 summarizes the inclusion and exclusion for the study. We identified 843 youth seen by IWK MHA services over the age of 18.5 years between April 2016 to August 2019. After excluding youth beyond the upper age range and outside the geographic area, the full cohort of transition-aged youth known to IWK MHA services consisted of 664 youth (281 males and 383 females), with a mean age of 18.9 years (Range: 18.5-19.5 years) (Table 1).

Table 1 presents the demographic, clinical, socioeconomic and health service use characteristics of the full cohort (n=664). With respect to the clinical characteristics of the full cohort, emotional/neurotic disorders were the most common presenting concern (n=305 (45.9%)). A small proportion (n=81 (12.2%)) of the full cohort were identified as priority patients in youth MHA services, meaning that due to the severity, acuity, and/or impact on daily functioning of their presenting concern, they required IWK MHA services within one week of referral/last visit. Approximately 28% (n=185) of the full cohort received care in specific care clinics, which provide specialized care for certain diagnoses (e.g., concurrent disorders, autism spectrum disorder, psychotic disorders). In terms of socioeconomic characteristics, the DA-level median household income in the full cohort was \$39,701 (IQR: \$31,653-\$46,818). With respect to health

service use, 19.3% (n=128) of the full cohort had MHA-related ED use between the ages of age 18-19 years, while 7.7% (n=51) had adult MHA-related ED use (age 19-19.5 years).



Figure 2.1: Flow diagram outlining the inclusion and exclusion criteria for the cohort across youth and adult services.

3.4.1 CHARACTERISTICS AND HEALTH SERVICE USE BY ONE-VISIT DEFINITION OF ATTENDANCE

Table 2 summarizes the demographic, clinical, and socioeconomic characteristics, and health service use by attendance to adult MHA services using the one-visit definition (\geq 1 visit within six months following the 19th birthday). From the full cohort, 28.2% (n=187) attended at least one visit in adult MHA services within six months of their 19th birthday. The demographic, clinical, and socioeconomic factors, and health service use of those attending at least one visit are found in the third column of Table 2; for those who did not attend any visits within six

months following their 19th birthday, descriptions are found in the second column of Table 2. The demographic, clinical, and socioeconomic characteristics of those attending and not attending at least one visit were not tested for statistically significant differences (i.e., t-tests) to avoid inflation of the type I error rate from redundant comparisons and are only for descriptive purposes.

	Full Cohort			
	n=664 (100%)			
Demographic Characteristics				
Age at last IWK visit, mean (Min-Max)	18.9 (18.5-19.5)			
Male	281 (42.3%)			
Clinical Characteristics				
Presenting Concern				
Serious & Enduring Mental Disorders	43 (6.5%)			
Emotional/Neurotic Disorders	305 (45.9%)			
Eating Disorders	15 (2.2%)			
Neurodevelopmental Disorders	60 (9.0%)			
Substance Use Disorders	87 (13.1%)			
To Be Determined	43 (6.5%)			
Missing	111 (16.7%)			
Priority Stream	81 (12.2%)			
Specific Care @ IWK	185 (27.9%)			
Socioeconomic Characte	ristics			
DA-Level Median Household Income/year	\$39,701 (31,653-			
(IQR)	46,818)			
DA-Level Percentage of Single-Parent Households				
<25 th centile (Low)	155 (23.4%)			
$25^{\text{th}} - 75^{\text{th}}$ centile (Moderate)	331 (51.5%)			
>75 th centile (High)	166 (25.1%)			
Health Service Use				
Any Youth ED use	128 (19.3%)			
Any Adult ED use	51 (7.7%)			
Repeated Adult ED Use (3+)	13 (2.0%)			
Median number of adult mental health-	1 (1-3)			
related ED visits in 6 months (IOR)				

Table 1: Descriptive Statistics of the Full Cohort

In terms of health service use, youth who attended at least one visit within six months had a median of four (IQR: 2-7) adult outpatient MHA visits. In addition, 22.4% (n=42) of youth who attended at least one visit in adult MHA services attended both youth and adult MHA services

simultaneously, meaning their first adult MHA visit preceded their last youth MHA visit. Those who attended their first adult MHA appointment after leaving youth MHA services (n=143) had a median wait time of 81.5 days to first adult MHA visit (IQR: 36-129.5).

When looking at MHA-related ED service patterns, among those who did not attend any outpatient adult MHA services within six months (Table 2, second column), very few youth (n=17 (3.6%)) utilized the adult ED, and fewer than five were repeat (3+ visits) ED users. Among those who attended adult outpatient services at least once (Table 2, third column), 18.2% (n=34) used the adult ED, and very few 6.4% (n=12) were repeat ED users (Range: 0-7) within six months.

3.4.2 CHARACTERISTICS ASSOCIATED WITH ATTENDANCE IN ADULT MHA SERVICES Table 2 also summarizes the unadjusted associations between clinical, demographic, and socioeconomic characteristics as well as youth and adult ED use with attendance to adult MHA services (4th column), accounting for community clustering. Among clinical characteristics, youth with serious and enduring presenting concerns had 2.17 times higher odds (95% CI: 1.11-4.25) of attending adult MHA services; however, stratified analysis showed significance only among males (Supplemental Table 3). Youth in specific care clinics at their last IWK visit also had higher odds (OR: 1.53 (95% CI: 1.04-2.23)) of attending adult MHA services. Among the socioeconomic characteristics, those living in an area with a moderate percentage of single parent households (25th to 75th percentile) had higher odds (OR: 1.61 (95% CI: 1.03-2.52)) of attending adult services than those living in areas with a high ($>75^{\text{th}}$ centile) percentage of single parent households; attendance among those living in areas with a low (<25th centile) proportion of single parent households was not significantly different than those living in areas with a high proportion. In terms of health service use, both youth and adult ED use had strong associations with attending adult MHA services; having at least one youth MHA ED visit was associated with 2.60 times (95% CI:1.72-3.93) higher odds, and having at least one adult MHA ED visit was associated with 6.66 times (95% CI:3.52-12.61) higher odds of attending adult MHA services. Differences between communities explained 4.2% (95% CI: 1.0%-16.3%) of the variance in the probability of attending at least one adult MHA visit, unadjusted for other factors (data not shown).
	Attended 0 Visits within 6 Months	Attended at least 1 visit within 6 months	Unadjusted Odds Ratios*
	n=477	n=187	
	(71.8%)	(28.2%)	
Der	nographic Characte	eristics	
Age at last IWK visit, mean	18.8	19.0	-
Male	210 (44.0%)	71 (38.0%)	0.76 (0.53-1.09)
	Clinical Characteris	tics	
Presenting Concern			
Serious & Enduring Mental Disorders	25 (5.2%)	18 (9.6%)	2.17 (1.11-4.25)
Emotional/Neurotic Disorders	218 (45.7%)	87 (46.5%)	0.98 (0.69-1.41)
Eating Disorders	11 (2.3%)	0	0.96 (0.29-3.15)
Neurodevelopmental Disorders	43 (9.0%)	17 (9.1%)	0.99 (0.54-1.81)
Substance Use Disorders	59 (12.4%)	28 (15.0%)	1.26 (0.76-2.07)
To Be Determined	36 (7.5%)	7 (3.7%)	0.50 (0.21-1.17)
Missing	85 (17.8%)	26 (13.9%)	-
Priority Stream, Yes	58 (12.1%)	23 (12.3%)	1.02 (0.60-1.72)
Specific Care @ IWK, Yes	122 (25.6%)	63 (33.7%)	1.53 (1.04-2.23)
Soci	oeconomic Charact	eristics	
DA-Level Median Household	\$39,183 (31,361-	\$40,605 (33,160-	1.00 (0.99-1.01)
Income/year, (IQR)	46,794)	46,818)	
DA-Level Percentage of Single-Parent	Households		
<25 th centile (Low)	117 (24.6%)	38 (20.4%)	1.10 (0.63-1.89)
$25^{\text{th}} - 75^{\text{th}}$ centile (Moderate)	231 (48.5%)	110 (59.1%)	1.61 (1.03-2.52)
>75 th centile (High)	128 (26.9%)	38 (20.4%)	Reference
	Health Service Us	e	
Median number of adult outpatient visits in 6-months (IQR)	0	4 (2-7)	-
Median time to first adult outpatient MHA visit, days (IQR)	-	81.5 (36-129.5)	-
Last Youth MHA appointment after	-	42 (22.4%)	-
first adult appointment			
Any Youth ED use	71 (14.9%)	57 (30.5%)	2.60 (1.72-3.93)
Any Adult ED use	17 (3.6%)	34 (18.2%)	6.66 (3.52-12.61)
Repeated Adult ED Use (3+)	<5	12 (6.4%)	-
Median number of adult mental health-	1 (1-1)	1 (1-3)	-
related ED visits in 6 months (IQR)	、 /	、 /	

Table 2: Descriptive Characteristics of Youth Meeting the One-Visit Definition of Attendance and Unadjusted Associations Modelling Attendance to At Least One Visit.

*All models included a random intercept by ADA and were unadjusted for other factors. 95% confidence interval is presented in brackets.

Bold indicates statistically significant association (p<0.05)

Presenting concerns were coded as yes/no for each category independently.

- indicates the association was not modelled

Cell sizes <5 were suppressed for confidentiality

3.4.3 SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS: ATTENDANCE IN ADULT SERVICES (TWO-VISIT DEFINITION)

Table 3 summarizes the descriptive characteristics and health service use patterns of the full cohort divided by the two-visit definition of transition success (<2 visits within six months), ≥ 2 visits within six months), as well as the unadjusted associations between clinical, demographic, socioeconomic and health service use factors with attendance to adult MHA services (4th column), accounting for community clustering. A small proportion (21.8% (n=145)) of the full cohort attended at least two visits within six months following their 19th birthday, which is 6.3% fewer than the one-visit definition. The results of the unadjusted associations were similar between the analyses using the one-visit and two-visit definitions (4th columns in Table 2 and Table 3). The magnitudes of these associations, apart from adult MHA-related ED use, were greater in the two-visit definition compared to the one-visit definition. Unique to those attending at least two adult MHA visits, females with substance use presenting concerns had statistically significant higher odds of attending adult MHA appointments (Supplemental Table 3).

3.4.4 SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS REFERRED THROUGH STAY CONNECTED

Few youth (54 (15.5%) out of 664 youth in the full cohort) were identified as referred to adult MHA services through Stay Connected (Figure 2.1). However, this is an underestimate as these data were only collected from April 2018 and did not capture all referrals within that timeframe. Most youth in this Stay Connected sub-cohort (n=34 (63%)) attended at least one adult outpatient MHA appointment within six months of their 19th birthday (Supplemental Table 5), and 55.5% (n=30) attended at least two visits (Supplemental Table 6). There were a few notable differences between the full cohort and the Stay Connected sub-cohort: compared to the full cohort, males (43.6% in full cohort vs. 25.9% in Stay Connected sub-cohort) and youth with neurodevelopmental disorders (9.0% in full cohort vs. <5% in Stay Connected. Additionally, compared to the full cohort, a larger proportion of youth referred through Stay Connected used the ED in both youth and adult MHA services (Supplemental Table 4).

	Attended <2	Attended at least	Unadjusted	
	visits within 6	2 visits within 6	Odds Ratios*	
	months	months		
	n=519	n=145		
	(78.2%)	(21.8%)		
Demog	graphic Characteris	stics		
Age at last IWK visit, mean	18.8	19.0	-	
Male	224 (43.1%)	57 (39.3%)	0.83 (0.57-1.23)	
Cli	nical Characteristic	S		
Presenting Concern				
Serious & Enduring Mental Disorders	26 (5.0%)	17 (11.7%)	2.97 (1.48-5.94)	
Emotional/Neurotic Disorders	237 (45.7%)	68 (46.9%)	0.98 (0.66-1.45)	
Eating Disorders	11 (2.1%)	<10	1.40 (0.42-4.68)	
Neurodevelopmental Disorders	49 (9.4%)	11 (7.6%)	0.76 (0.38-1.53)	
Substance Use Disorders	64 (12.3%)	23 (15.9%)	1.35 (0.79-2.32)	
To Be Determined	38 (7.3%)	<10	0.47 (0.18-1.25)	
Missing	94 (18.1%)	17 (11.7%)	-	
Priority Stream, Yes	64 (12.3%)	17 (11.7%)	0.93 (0.52-1.68)	
Specific Care @ IWK, Yes	132 (25.4%)	53 (36.5%)	1.77 (1.18-2.68)	
Socioe	conomic Characteri	stics		
DA-Level Median Household	\$39,183 (31,515-	\$40,644 (32,778-	1.00 (0.99-1.00)	
Income/year (IQR)	46,611)	47,471)		
DA-Level Percentage of Single-Parent	Households			
<25 th centile	124 (24.0%)	31 (21.4%)	1.35 (0.73-2.49)	
$25^{\text{th}} - 75^{\text{th}}$ centile	254 (49.1%)	87 (60.0%)	1.76 (1.06-2.91)	
>75 th centile	139 (26.9%)	27 (18.6%)	Reference	
Health Service Use				
Median number of adult outpatient	0	5 (3-8)	-	
visits in 6-months (IQR)				
Median time to first adult outpatient	-	62 (31-117)	-	
MHA visit, days (IQR)				
Last Youth MHA appointment after	-	38 (26.2%)	-	
first adult appointment				
Any Youth ED use	81 (15.6%)	47 (32.4%)	2.75 (1.77-4.27)	
Any Adult ED use	24 (4.6%)	27 (18.6%)	5.14 (2.78-9.51)	
Repeated ED Use (3+)	<5	11 (7.6%)	-	
Median number of adult mental health-	1 (1-1)	1 (1-4)	-	
related ED visits in 6 months (IQR)				

Table 3: Descriptive Characteristics of Youth Meeting the Two-Visit Definition of Attendance and Unadjusted Associations Modelling Attendance to At Least Two Visits

*All models included a random intercept by ADA, and were unadjusted for other factors. 95% confidence interval is presented in brackets.

Bold indicates statistically significant association (p<0.05)

Presenting concerns were coded as yes/no for each category independently.

- indicates the association was not modelled

Cell sizes <5 were suppressed for confidentiality

In terms of the unadjusted associations between clinical, demographic, and socioeconomic characteristics and health service use with attendance to adult MHA services, either using the one- and two-visit definitions of attendance, no characteristic was statistically significant, except DA-level median percentage of single-parent households (Supplemental Tables 5 & 6). Those known to have been referred through Stay Connected had 5.67 times (95% CI: 3.06-10.51) higher odds of attending adult services than those who did not have record of a referral (n=349), within the timeframe where referral data were collected (April 2018-March 2020) (Supplemental Table 4)

3.5 DISCUSSION

Overall, we aimed to improve our understanding of transition aged youth attending IWK MHA services. In the current study, fewer than a third of transition aged youth known to IWK MHA services attended adult MHA services within six months of the transition boundary. These low rates of attendance may reflect logistical challenges between youth and adult MHA services, including wait times, referral delays, and/or differences in service provision between youth and adult MHA services which are difficult to capture in health administrative data. It may also reflect that few individuals require or are eligible to transition to adult services. Nonetheless, the data reflect lower than expected rates of transition to adult services based on the literature.⁷ Based on the results from the unadjusted regression analyses, it appears that there are certain clinical factors, such as MHA-related ED use and presenting concern, which are associated with attending adult services. Additionally, it appears that of those who attend any outpatient adult MHA services, nearly 25% do not attend more than one visit, highlighting the need for more longitudinal follow up of transition aged youth past the transition boundary. Our findings ultimately highlight the challenges in utilizing health administrative data to measure transition success but also identify opportunities for improving continuous quality improvement across the transition from youth to adult MHA services.

3.5.1 ATTENDANCE TO ADULT SERVICES

While not every patient known to IWK MHA services is expected to attend adult MHA services, past literature has estimated that up to 80% of youth attending youth MHA services at the transition boundary in the UK are suitable to transition to adult MHA services.⁷ While there are no equivalent estimates in Canada, we know that all individuals in our sub-cohort of known referrals to adult MHA through Stay Connected, were deemed suitable to transition by youth MHA clinicians. Still, only 63% in this sub-cohort attended adult MHA services within six months following their 19th birthday. While it is reassuring that those identified as being referred to adult MHA through Stay Connected are more likely to attend adult services, these rates still fall nearly 20% below what we would expect.

While we would have expected a larger proportion to subsequently attend adult MHA services based on eligibility, the proportion of this cohort who attended adult MHA services (28.2%) is slightly larger than what has been found in existing literature, reflecting just how difficult transitions are across the globe.¹⁰ In a systematic review of youth eligible to transition to adult MHA services across Europe, Australia, and North America, 24% were found to have "completed their transition" to adult MHA services.¹⁰ However, studies have used different definitions of transition success,^{7,28} and used shorter observation windows,²⁹ which may explain why our point estimate was slightly higher and makes these difficult to compare. While it is difficult to directly compare transition rates between countries and even health systems, all of these transitions rates are lower than what would be expected based on the population's need for care directly before the transition boundary.

3.5.2 FACTORS ASSOCIATED WITH ATTENDANCE TO ADULT MHA SERVICES

Our unadjusted regression analyses indicate that there are certain presenting concern categories of adolescents in youth MHA which are more likely to subsequently attend adult MHA services. These associations are consistent with known differences in service mandates between youth and adult MHA services. For example, it is consistent with both service delivery and prognosis for these illnesses that youth with serious and enduring presenting concerns are more likely to transition to adult MHA services than other presenting concerns. In terms of service delivery in Nova Scotia, individuals with serious and enduring disorders are also more likely to receive care

in specific care clinics, such as the Nova Scotia Early Psychosis Program, which have developed streamlined transition guidelines separate from Community MHA and span both youth and adult MHA services. While we could not objectively assess need for services or diagnostic assessment, we did see that individuals in specific care clinics had higher odds of attending adult MHA. Similarly, individuals with serious and enduring concerns may be more likely to require more intensive services (i.e., from a specialist) and thus meet the stringent criteria for adult MHA services.³⁰ Given that adult MHA in North America and Europe has been characterized as being biomedically and diagnostically driven relative to youth MHA,^{12,18} those who fit into DSM-V diagnostic classes requiring specialist management, such as those with serious manifestations of mental illness such as psychoses, may be more likely to be accepted by adult MHA than someone receiving early intervention for MHA concerns that could worsen over time, as is common in youth MHA services. While these individuals are likely still significantly impaired, they appear to be less likely to subsequently attend adult services within the first six months of becoming eligible. It is reassuring that those likely to be most in need of specialist services are subsequently attending adult services. Further assessing the qualitative differences in transition guidelines between specific care clinics and community MHA may identify efficacious transition policies for wider adoption.

While we also expected that those with neurodevelopmental disorders would be less likely to attend adult services, given that past literature from the UK and USA has found that disorders such as ASD or ADHD are less likely to be referred and/or accepted by adult MHA due to clinician biases,^{7,8,18} we did not find a significant association. These conditions (namely ADHD) have recently been recognized to be lifespan conditions,³¹ thus, adult services may have adapted and begun offering expanded and appropriate services into adulthood, which subsequently has increased adult MHA attendance in those with these concerns. We did however notice that males and youth with neurodevelopmental disorders were underrepresented in those referred through Stay Connected relative to the full cohort but, acknowledge that this subset of referrals identifiable in the data is non-random, and thus may reflect selection bias relative to all referrals made to adult MHA services.

In terms of health service use, those with youth or adult ED use were more likely to attend adult services, which may reflect increased need for or access to MHA services. It is also likely that those with MHA-related ED visits are involved in more proactive care-seeking behaviours, and/or aware of worsening symptoms and thus are more likely to attend adult MHA services.^{32,33} This finding is novel, as past work has found that transitioning youth who remain on the waitlist for adult MHA services report more ED visits than those who transitioned immediately after crossing the age boundary.³⁴ However in the Cappelli et al. study,³⁴ their cohort consisted of only individuals referred to adult MHA services, which is not true for our cohort. We might expect that if a gap in care resulting in unmet need for services and progression of illness across the transition period was created, ED utilization would be higher in those who did not attend adult services. While this does not appear to be the case, at least in the short term, it may be confounded by need if those who did not attend outpatient MHA services did not need any MHA care. Longer periods of observation of MHA-related service use, including ED usage, may also reveal different trends.

3.5.3 LOOKING BEYOND ONE VISIT

Based on our results, using a longer observation (i.e., at least two visits) period to measure attendance and potential inequities across an episode of care is particularly informative in the context of transitions. Even after accessing youth MHA services once, many non-clinical factors such as race²², geography³⁵, education¹⁶, and socioeconomic status³⁶ may affect an individual's ability to continue accessing MHA services. Indeed, when looking more longitudinally, we saw that nearly 25% of those who attended a single visit in adult MHA services did not attend a second visit within the six-month observation period, which may reflect that these individuals only required one visit in which their needs were met or may be related to discharges and/or inequities in access to care. While most transition studies end observation at the first outpatient adult MHA visit, this is higher than the 16% found in a previous study.⁷ We cannot however, differentiate between youth whose needs were met in their first visit or in the wait time between youth and adult MHA services, and those who did not attend multiple visits due to inequities or barriers in care. Without an indication of clinical discharge, we cannot differentiate these pathways. Additionally, the magnitude of the associations using the two-visit definition appeared larger than the one-visit definition, which may indicate that factors that influence attendance to

the first visit have an increasing influence over repeated visits. Further work specifically investigating the subgroup of individuals who attend only one visit in adult MHA services, looking more longitudinally, incorporating clinical discharges, wait times, and patient experiences, would help understand why youth do not attend multiple adult MHA visits, and more precisely identify how factors affecting attendance to the first adult MHA visit may reflect the need (or lack thereof) for subsequent visits.

In terms of socioeconomic factors, we found that geography explains a small proportion (<10%) of the variance in the probability of attending adult services. This may reflect that there was little heterogeneity in the cohort, or that most of the variability in the probability of attending adult services is due to individual-level factors. We were underpowered to create adjusted models to examine how the explained variability changes when adjusting for individual- and area- level factors, however doing so in future studies would help further assess this hypothesis.

While we did not find a significant relationship with median income, our cohort's median income was below the Halifax poverty line across the observation period,³⁷ which likely reflects the overrepresentation of mental illness and/or increased need for these services in those of low income. This finding confirms that transition-aged youth known to IWK MHA services are a vulnerable subset of the population in terms of both their developmental stage and socioeconomic characteristics. While we did not have individual-level data, it is known that those of lower socioeconomic status (SES) are more likely to need,³⁸ and more likely to have difficulties in accessing MHA services.³⁶ Further work should ensure that the appropriate supports are in place for these individuals to continue accessing needed MHA services across the transition boundary, and further address unmet need in those who have not accessed services at all, which was outside of the scope of this study. Additionally, we did find that those living in areas with a high ($\geq 75^{\text{th}}$ centile) proportion of single parent families were less likely to attend adult MHA services than those in areas with a moderate $(25^{\text{th}} - 75^{\text{th}})$ proportion. This association with single parent families is opposite to what we would expect epidemiologically in terms of need for MHA services, thus likely reflects difficulties in access. While clinician biases regarding what constitutes a need for services or what the appropriate management is for a certain patient must be recognized, we would be able to better differentiate between need and

access by routinely collecting indicators of ongoing need for services (i.e., referrals), adjusting for these indicators, and looking more longitudinally to assess the influence of these factors across an episode of care. Even with better data collection of those who are accessing services, there is still the need to educate and recognize the potential for inequities across the transition to adult MHA services by better understanding the gap between population-based expectations of need, and who is actually accessing or requesting care across the transition period.

3.5.4 LIMITATIONS

We must also acknowledge some limitations. In our data sources, we could not classify individuals according to their referral/eligibility to transition to adult MHA services. While this information was available for some of our cohort, it was not collected comprehensively. Thus, for the 71.8% of the cohort who did not attend adult MHA services within the first 6 months past the transition boundary, we cannot classify them as "unsuccessfully transitioned" as they may not have met eligibility criteria for adult MHA services or importantly, did not need/want adult MHA services offered at Nova Scotia Health (i.e., their treatment was complete) or preferred to access them elsewhere (i.e., privately). Next, we were limited by our sample size in exploring both multi-level and stratified analyses, particularly in the sub-cohort with known referrals through Stay Connected. We also could not create adjusted models, which means our statistically significant univariable associations may be confounded by other factors. We could not extend our overall observation period to increase power, as substantial changes to the transition process, including the transition guidelines and Stay Connected Mental Health Project, were implemented in June 2015. Including youth in attendance to services prior to this would undermine the internal validity of our study. We also found that wait times for adult MHA services were highly variable over the observation period. While we used a six-month observation period to capture episodes of care spanning the transition boundary, based on wait time trends some individuals may have attended a 'transition' appointment more than six months past their 19th birthday, and thus were misclassified as not attending adult MHA services. In terms of our inequity analyses, important indicators such as income³⁶, family status²⁹, race,²² and gender,³⁹ which are known to play a role in inequities, are not routinely collected in health administrative data. Thus, we could not investigate these associations at the individual level. We also acknowledge that over 15% of our

cohort had missing data on presenting concern, which may non-differentially bias the presented associations of presenting concern categories with attendance to adult MHA services.

3.5.5 RECOMMENDATIONS

Challenges in transitions between pediatric and adult services are common in MHA^{7,8} and have repeatedly been identified as a priority for improvement,^{23,24} including within Nova Scotia.⁴⁰ Yet there is a dearth of information on the transition between youth and adult MHA services, and a significant gap in data collection; our results have highlighted some of these gaps. Without accurately identifying and tracking transitioning youth, the data required to plan, implement, and evaluate the transition from youth to adult MHA services will continue to be uncertain. To address these identified problems and assess the efficacy of any future interventions, we must ensure we can accurately capture who needs and who completes successful transitions to adult MHA services. On the youth MHA side, having a routinely collected indicator of youth's disposition (i.e., discharged to primary care, referred to adult MHA, concerns resolved) or file closure would improve the specificity of transition evaluations and enable continuous quality improvement for this potentially vulnerable group. On the adult MHA side, routinely tracking referrals received, the decisions for these referrals, clinical discharges, and no-shows /cancellations would add a richness to the assessment of service use in transition aged youth by being able to differentiate different service pathways, particularly when attendance drops substantially after the first visit.^{7,10,14} Similarly, there is a need in both systems to capture youths' preferences or shared decisions made during treatment to help more accurately assess inequities. Beyond tertiary youth and adult MHA services, there may also be opportunities outside of the formal health system to collect data from community-based programs or primary care to supplement future analyses.

3.5.6 CONCLUSION

Overall, care teams within and between health authorities must work together across youth and adult services to improve information capture and transfer to allow quality monitoring and improvement. We have found important associations between clinical factors, such as MHA ED use and presenting concern categories, and identified that longer observation periods may provide further insights. Our results also highlight the need for data solutions at the health system

level to improve the capture of those transitioning between youth and adult MHA services. Routinely tracking referrals between services and implementing newly developed standardized assessments, such as the Transition Readiness and Appropriateness Measure,⁴¹ or the Adult Needs and Strengths Assessment for Transition to Adulthood (ANSA-T),⁴² will help better identify transition suitable youth, reinforce quality improvement initiatives, and improve information sharing and parallel care. There are also opportunities to incorporate youths' selfreported need assessments, such as the Camberwell Assessment of Need,⁴³ in youth MHA services close to the transition boundary to identify met and unmet need and plan interventions accordingly. As it exists currently, health administrative data is not ideally suited to answer these important questions about transition aged health service outcomes and potential inequities. Further quantitative findings from robust data sources will complement qualitative findings of the perceived gaps in care, improve certainty regarding transition eligibility, and enable identification of vulnerable youth to ensure the health system prevents future youth from becoming lost in transition.

3.6 REFERENCES:

1. Canadian Institute For Health Information. Care for Children and Youth with Mental Disorders in Canada. Ottawa; 2015. doi:10.12927/hcq.2016.24616

2. De Girolamo G, Dagani J, Purcell R, Cocchi A, McGorry PD. Age of onset of mental disorders and use of mental health services: Needs, opportunities and obstacles. Epidemiol Psychiatr Sci. 2012;21(1):47-57. doi:10.1017/S2045796011000746

3. Kessler RC, Berglund P, Demler O, Jin R, Merikangas KR, Walters EE. Lifetime Prevalence and Age-of-Onset Distributions of DSM-IV Disorders. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 2005;62(June):593-602. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.62.6.593

4. Sawyer SM, Afifi RA, Bearinger LH, et al. Adolescence: A foundation for future health. Lancet. 2012;379(9826):1630-1640. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60072-5

5. Waddell C, McEwan K, Shepherd CA, Offord DR, Hua JM. A Public Health Strategy to Improve the Mental Health of Canadian Children. Vol 50.; 2005.

Mental Health Commission of Canada. Making the Case for Investing in Mental Health in Canada. 2010:1-27.
http://www.mentalhealthcommission.ca/English/system/files/private/document/Investing_in_Me ntal_Health_FINAL_Version_ENG.pdf.

7. Singh SP, Paul M, Ford T, et al. Process, outcome and experience of transition from child to adult mental healthcare: Multiperspective study. Br J Psychiatry. 2010;197(4):305-312. doi:10.1192/bjp.bp.109.075135

8. Signorini G, Singh SP, Marsanic VB, et al. The interface between child/adolescent and adult mental health services: results from a European 28-country survey. Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2018;27(4):501-511. doi:10.1007/s00787-018-1112-5

 Harpaz-Rotem I, Leslie D, Rosenheck RA. Treatment retention among children entering a new episode of mental health care. Psychiatr Serv. 2004;55(9):1022-1028. doi:10.1176/appi.ps.55.9.1022

10. Appleton R, Connell C, Fairclough E, Tuomainen H, Singh SP. Outcomes of young people who reach the transition boundary of child and adolescent mental health services: a systematic review. Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2019;28(11):1431-1446. doi:10.1007/s00787-019-01307-7

11. McLaren S, Belling R, Paul M, et al. "Talking a different language": An exploration of the influence of organizational cultures and working practices on transition from child to adult mental health services. BMC Health Serv Res. 2013;13(1):1. doi:10.1186/1472-6963-13-254

12. Davis M. Addressing the Needs of Youth in Transition to Adulthood. Adm Policy Ment Health. 2003;30(6):495-509.

13. Schraeder KE, Reid GJ. Who Should Transition? Defining a Target Population of Youth with Depression and Anxiety That Will Require Adult Mental Health Care. J Behav Heal Serv Res. 2017;44(2):316-330. doi:10.1007/s11414-015-9495-2

14. Steele LS, Glazier RH, Lin E. Inequity in mental health care under Canadian universal health coverage. Psychiatr Serv. 2006;57(3):317-324. doi:10.1176/appi.ps.57.3.317

Islam Z, Ford T, Kramer T, et al. Mind how you cross the gap! Outcomes for young people who failed to make the transition from child to adult services: The TRACK study.
 BJPsych Bull. 2016;40(3):142-148. doi:10.1192/pb.bp.115.05069

16. Appleton R, Elahi F, Tuomainen H, Canaway A, Singh SP. "I'm just a long history of people rejecting referrals" experiences of young people who fell through the gap between child and adult mental health services. Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2020;(0123456789). doi:10.1007/s00787-020-01526-3

17. Arcelus J, Bouman WP, Morgan JF. Treating young people with eating disorders: transition from child mental health to specialist adult eating disorder services. Eur Eat Disord Rev Prof J Eat Disord Assoc. 2008;16(1):30-36.

18. Hovish K, Weaver T, Islam Z, Paul M, Singh SP. Transition experiences of mental health service users, parents, and professionals in the United Kingdom: A qualitative study. Psychiatr Rehabil J. 2012;35(3):251-257. doi:10.2975/35.3.2012.251.257

 Cleverley K, Lenters L, McCann E. "objectively terrifying": A qualitative study of youth's experiences of transitions out of child and adolescent mental health services at age 18.
 BMC Psychiatry. 2020;20(1):1-11. doi:10.1186/s12888-020-02516-0

20. Cleverley K, Rowland E, Bennett K, Jeffs L, Gore D. Identifying core components and indicators of successful transitions from child to adult mental health services: a scoping review. Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2018;(0123456789). doi:10.1007/s00787-018-1213-1

21. Singh SP, Tuomainen H. Transition from child to adult mental health services: Needs, barriers, experiences and new models of care. World Psychiatry. 2015;14(3):358-361. doi:10.1002/wps.20266

22. Lê Cook B, Zuvekas SH, Carson N, Wayne GF, Vesper A, McGuire TG. Assessing racial/ethnic disparities in treatment across episodes of mental health care. Health Serv Res. 2014;49(1):206-229. doi:10.1111/1475-6773.12095

23. Viner R, Keane M. Youth Matters: Evidence-Based Best Practice for the Care of Young People in Hospital. Caring for Children in the Health Services London; 1998.

Cappelli M, Davidson S, Caldwell W, Bélair M-A, Vloet MA. Taking the Next Step
Forward: Building a Responsive Mental Health and Addictions System for Emerging Adults.;
2015. doi:10.1002/jhm.798

 World Health Organization. ICD - ICD-9-CM - International Classification of Diseases, Ninth Revision, Clinical Modification. Geneva; 1978.
 https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/icd/icd9cm.htm. Accessed February 25, 2021.

26. Canadian Institute for Health Information. A Guide to Intervention Code Assignment. Ottawa; 2018. www.cihi.ca. Accessed February 25, 2021.

27. Statistics Canada. Postal Code OM Conversion File.
https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/en/catalogue/92-154-X. Published 2017. Accessed May 16, 2021.

28. Paul M, Ford T, Kramer T, Islam Z, Harley K, Singh SP. Transfers and transitions between child and adult mental health services. Br J Psychiatry. 2013;202(SUPPL. 54):36-41. doi:10.1192/bjp.bp.112.119198

29. Perera RH, Rogers SL, Edwards S, Hudman P, Malone C. Determinants of Transition From Child and Adolescent to Adult Mental Health Services: A Western Australian Pilot Study. Aust Psychol. 2017;52(3):184-190. doi:10.1111/ap.12192

30. Mental Health Commission of Canada. Strengthening the Case for Investing in Canada's Mental Health System: Economic Considerations.; 2017. http://www.mentalhealthcommission.ca. Accessed April 28, 2020.

31. Wilens TE, Spencer TJ. Understanding attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder from childhood to adulthood. Postgrad Med. 2010;122(5):97-109. doi:10.3810/pgm.2010.09.2206

32. Fleury MJ, Rochette L, Grenier G, et al. Factors associated with emergency department use for mental health reasons among low, moderate and high users. Gen Hosp Psychiatry.
2019;60:111-119. doi:10.1016/j.genhosppsych.2019.07.006

33. Gentil L, Grenier G, Vasiliadis H-M, Huỳnh C, Fleury M-J. Predictors of Recurrent High Emergency Department Use among Patients with Mental Disorders. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2021;18(9):4559.

34. Cappelli M, Davidson S, Racek J, et al. Transitioning Youth into Adult Mental Health and Addiction Services: An Outcomes Evaluation of the Youth Transition Project. J Behav Heal Serv Res. 2016;43(4):597-610. doi:10.1007/s11414-014-9440-9

35. Betancourt TS, Frounfelker R, Mishra T, Hussein A, Falzarano R. Addressing health disparities in the mental health of refugee children and adolescents through community-based participatory research: A study in 2 communities. Am J Public Health. 2015;105(Suppl 3):S475-S482. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2014.302504

36. Flisher AJ, Kramer RA, Grosser RC, et al. Correlates of unmet need for mental health services by children and adolescents. Psychol Med. 1997;27(5):1145-1154. doi:10.1017/S0033291797005412

37. Reiss F. Socioeconomic inequalities and mental health problems in children and adolescents: A systematic review. Soc Sci Med. 2013;90:24-31.
doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2013.04.026

38. Statistics Canada. Market Basket Measure (MBM) thresholds for the reference family by Market Basket Measure region, component and base year. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/t1/tbl1/en/tv.action?pid=1110006601. Published 2021. Accessed June 8, 2021.

39. Kelly UA. Integrating intersectionality and biomedicine in health disparities research.Adv Nurs Sci. 2009;32(2). doi:10.1097/ANS.0b013e3181a3b3fc

40. Office of the Auditor General. Independent Auditor's Report: Health and Wellness, IWK
Health Centre, and Nova Scotia Health Authority: Mental Health Services. 2017;(November):2143. https://oag-ns.ca/sites/default/files/publications/Ch2Nov2017_2.pdf.

41. Singh SP, Tuomainen H, De Girolamo G, et al. Protocol for a cohort study of adolescent mental health service users with a nested cluster randomised controlled trial to assess the clinical and cost-effectiveness of managed transition in improving transitions from child to adult mental health services. BMJ Open. 2017;7(10):1-19. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2017-016055

42. Lyons JS. Communimetrics: A Communication Theory of Measurement in Human Service Settings. Springer US; 2009. doi:10.1007/978-0-387-92822-7

43. Issakidis C, Teesson M. Measurement of Need for Care: A Trial of the Camberwell
Assessment of Need and the Health of the Nation Outcome Scales. Aust New Zeal J Psychiatry.
1999;33(5):754-759. doi:10.1080/j.1440-1614.1999.00598.x

3.7 ONLINE SUPPLEMENT TO MANUSCRIPT



Supplemental Figure 1: Individual Transition Timeline & Observation Windows

Supplemental Table 1: ICD-9, ICD-10 Codes & Canadian Classification for Intervention Codes Used to Ascertain Mental Health & Addictions Related Emergency Department Usage

IWK	Mental Health-	The codes include: Substance Use: ICD-10 F1-19,
	Related ED Use	F55
		Mental Health: ICD-10 F00-09, F53.1, G30, R41.3,
		F20-29, R41.0, F30-33, F34.0, F32.1, F34.8, F34.9,
		F38, F39, F53.0, F40-F42, F93.0-93.2, F32.0, F43.1,
		F43.8, F43.9, F60-62, F68–69, F43.2, F44, F45,
		F48.0, F48.1, F48.8-48.9, F53.8-53.9, F50-52, F54,
		F59, F63-F66, F70-73, F78-92, F93.0, F93.3, F93.8,
		F93.9, F94, F95, F98-99, O99.3
		Assessment: ICD-10 Z03.2
		Counselling: CCI 6.AA.10.xx
Nova Scotia	Mental Health-	The codes include: Substance Use: ICD-9 303-306
Health	Related ED Use	Mental Health: ICD-9 290-319 E90-959
		Assessment: ICD-9 V7189

	Males	Females		
	N=281	N=383		
Demographic Characteristics				
Age at last IWK visit, mean (SD)	18.9 (0.27)	18.9 (0.26)		
Clinical Cl	naracteristics			
Presenting Concern				
Serious & Enduring Mental Disorders	26 (9.2)	17 (4.4)		
Emotional/Neurotic Disorders	108 (38.4)	197 (51.4)		
Eating Disorders	0	15 (3.9)		
Neurodevelopmental Disorders	46 (16.4)	14 (3.6)		
Substance Use Disorders	54 (19.2)	33 (8.6)		
To Be Determined (TBD)	14 (5.0)	29 (7.6)		
Missing	33 (11.7)	78 (20.4)		
Specific Care Clinics @ IWK	110 (39.1%)	75 (19.6%)		
Specific Care Clinic @ 1 st NSH	25 (35.1%)	14 (12.0%)		
Priority Stream	25 (8.9%)	56 (14.6%)		
Socioeconomic	Socioeconomic Characteristics			
DA-Level Adjusted Yearly Median	\$40,966 (33,018-	\$38,527 (31,221-		
Household Income (IQR)	47,830)	46,426)		
DA-Level Median Percentage of Single	e-Parent Households			
<25 th centile (Low)	70 (24.9%)	85 (22.3%)		
$25^{\text{th}} - 75^{\text{th}}$ centile (Moderate)	147 (52.3%)	194 (50.9%)		
>75 th centile (High)	64 (22.8%)	102 (26.8%)		
Health S	ervice Use			
Known to Stay Connected?	14 (9.7%)	40 (19.5%)		
(April 2018-March 2020)				
Median number of adult outpatient	4 (2-9)	3 (2-6)		
visits in 6-months post-19 th hirthday	• (= >)	- (-)		
visits in 0-months post-17 on may	. (= >)	- (-)		
(IQR)	. (= 7)			
(IQR) Median time to first adult outpatient	74 (36-129)	85 (38-130)		
(IQR)Median time to first adult outpatientMHA visit, days (IQR)	74 (36-129)	85 (38-130)		
(IQR) Median time to first adult outpatient MHA visit, days (IQR) Any Youth ED Use	74 (36-129) 48 (17.1%)	85 (38-130) 80 (20.9%)		
(IQR)Median time to first adult outpatientMHA visit, days (IQR)Any Youth ED UseAny Adult ED Use	74 (36-129) 48 (17.1%) 14 (5.0%)	85 (38-130) 80 (20.9%) 37 (9.7%)		
(IQR)Median time to first adult outpatientMHA visit, days (IQR)Any Youth ED UseAny Adult ED UseRepeated (3+) Adult ED Use	74 (36-129) 48 (17.1%) 14 (5.0%) 6 (2.1%)	85 (38-130) 80 (20.9%) 37 (9.7%) 7 (1.8%)		
(IQR)Median time to first adult outpatientMHA visit, days (IQR)Any Youth ED UseAny Adult ED UseRepeated (3+) Adult ED UseMedian number of adult ED visits in 6-	74 (36-129) 48 (17.1%) 14 (5.0%) 6 (2.1%) 1 (1-3)	85 (38-130) 80 (20.9%) 37 (9.7%) 7 (1.8%) 1 (1-2)		

Supplemental Table 2: Descriptive Statistics for Cohort Stratified by Sex

Bold indicates significant t-test or non-parametric equivalent (p < 0.05)

Presenting concerns were coded as yes/no for each category independently.

- indicates the association was not modelled

	1-Visit		2-Visit	
	Males	Females	Males	Females
	n=281	n=381	n=281	n=381
Presenting Concerns				
Serious & Enduring, Yes	3.40 (1.49-7.73)	1.00 (0.33-2.99)	4.79 (2.08-11.04)	1.10 (0.33-3.61)
Emotional/Neurotic, Yes	0.76 (0.43-1.35)	1.13 (0.71-1.81)	0.76 (0.41-1.40)	1.15 (0.69-1.92)
Eating Disorders, Yes	-	0.84 (0.25-2.79)	-	1.30 (0.38-4.40)
Neurodevelopmental, Yes	0.92 (0.44-1.92)	1.75 (0.57-5.38)	0.80 (0.35-1.82)	0.84 (0.22-3.25)
Substance Use, Yes	1.04 (0.53-2.06)	1.87 (0.88-3.96)	0.75 (0.34-1.63)	2.86 (1.32-6.19)
To Be Determined, Yes	1.19 (0.36-3.93)	0.25 (0.07-0.87)	1.07 (0.29-3.99)	0.24 (0.55-1.06)

Supplemental Table 3: Univariable stratified analysis of presenting concern by sex

Bold indicates statistically significant association (p<0.05) Presenting concerns were coded as yes/no for each category independently. - indicates the association was not modelled

	Stay Connected Referral Sub-Cohort	No Stay Connected (April 2018-March		
	n=54	2020) n=295		
Demograph	ic Characteristics			
Age at last IWK visit, mean (SD)	19.0 (0.22)	18.9		
Male	14 (25.9%)	(44.1%)		
Clinical Characteristics				
Presenting Concern				
Serious & Enduring Mental Disorders	5 (9.2%)	21 (7.1%)		
Emotional/Neurotic Disorders	30 (55.5%)	131 (44.4%)		
Eating Disorders	<5	6 (2.0%)		
Neurodevelopmental Disorders	<5	27 (9.1%)		
Substance Use Disorders	6 (11.1%)	39 (13.2%)		
To Be Determined	<5	7 (2.4%)		
Missing	8 (14.8%)	64 (21.7%)		
Specific Care @ IWK, Yes	14 (25.9%)	80 (27.1%)		
Specific Care @ 1 st NSH, Yes	6 (14.3%)	16 (22.2%)		
Priority Stream, Yes	10 (18.5%)	36 (12.2%)		
Socioeconon	nic Characteristics			
DA-Level Yearly Median Household	\$38,048 (28,091-	\$39,312 (31,515-		
Income (IQR)	45,099)	46,752)		
DA-Level Median Percentage of Single	-Parent Households			
<25 th centile (Low)	13 (24.1%)	64 (21.8%)		
$25^{\text{th}} - 75^{\text{th}}$ centile (Moderate)	27 (50.0%)	152 (51.9%)		
>75 th centile (High)	14 (25.9%)	77 (26.3%)		
Health Service Use				
Median number of adult outpatient	5 (3-8)	3 (1-5)		
visits in 6-months (IQR)				
Median time to first adult outpatient	57 (38-102.5)	49.5 (1-128)		
MHA visit, days (IQR)	. ,			
Any Youth MHA ED use	20 (37.0%)	57 (19.3%)		
Any Adult MHA ED Use	10 (18.5%)	21 (7.1%)		
Median number of adult mental health- related ED visits in 6 months (IOR)	1 (1-2)	1 (1-3)		

Supplemental Table 4: Descriptive Statistics of Sub-Cohort Referred Through Stay Connected

Cell sizes <5 suppressed for confidentiality

	Attended 0 Visits within 6-Months	Attended at least 1- visit within 6-months	Unadjusted Odds Ratios*		
	n=20 (37.0%)	n=34 (63.0%)			
l	Demographic Charac	teristics			
Age at last IWK visit, mean	18.9 (0.24)	19.1 (0.19)	-		
Male	(30.0%)	8 (23.0%)	0.72 (0.20-2.51)		
Clinical Characteristics					
Presenting Concern					
Serious & Enduring Mental			2 53 (0 26 24 03)		
Disorders	<5	<5	2.33 (0.20-24.93)		
Emotional/Neurotic Disorders	9 (45.0%)	18 (52.9%)	1.97 (0.64-6.11)		
Eating Disorders	<5	<5	-		
Neurodevelopmental Disorders	<5	<5	-		
Substance Use Disorders	<5	<5	0.25 (0.04-1.54)		
To Be Determined	<5	<5	0.57 (0.03-10.0)		
Missing	<5	<5	-		
Priority Stream, Yes	5 (25.0%)	5 (14.7%)	0.52 (0.13-2.10)		
Specific Care @ IWK, Yes	5 (25.0%)	9 (26.5%)	1.08 (0.30-3.88)		
S	ocioeconomic Chara	cteristics			
DA-Level Median Household	\$33,273 (24,640-	\$40,981 (34,203-			
Income/year (IQR)	45,705)	45,099)	1.00 (0.99-1.00)		
DA-Level Median Percentage of Si	ngle-Parent Househo	olds			
<25 th centile (Low)	5 (25.0%)	8 (23.5%)	4.0 (0.79-20.3)		
$25^{\text{th}} - 75^{\text{th}}$ centile (Moderate)	5 (25.0%)	22 (64.7%)	11.0 (2.39-50.6)		
>75 th centile (High)	10 (50.0%)	4 (11.8%)	Reference		
Health Service Use					
Any Youth MHA ED use	5 (25%)	15 (43.3%)	2.37 (0.69-8.09)		
Any Adult MHAED Use	<5	9 (26.5%)	6.84 (0.78-59.9)		
Median number of adult outpatient	0	5.5 (4-9)	-		
visits in 6-months (IQR)		· · · ·			
Median adult mental health-related	1 (1-1)	1 (1-2)	-		
ED visits in 6 months (IQR)	× /	~ /			
Median time to first adult	-	57 (38-102.5)	-		
outpatient MHA visit, days (IQR)					

Supplemental Table 5: Characteristics of Youth Referred Through Stay Connected meeting the 1-visit Definition of Attendance

Bold indicates statistically significant association (p<0.05)

Presenting concerns were coded as yes/no for each category independently.

- indicates the association was not modelled

Cell sizes <5 were suppressed for confidentiality

	Attended less than 2 visits within 6-	Attended at least 2-visits within 6-	Unadjusted Odds Ratios*	
	Months	months		
	n=24 (37.0%)	n=30 (63.0%)		
D	emographic Characte	eristics		
Age at last IWK visit, mean (SD)	18.9 (0.22)	19.1 (0.19)	-	
Male	(25.0%)	8 (26.7%)	1.09 (0.31-3.77)	
Clinical Characteristics				
Presenting Concern				
Serious & Enduring Mental			3 54 (0 36 34 71)	
Disorders	<5	<5	5.54 (0.50-54.71)	
Emotional/Neurotic Disorders	12 (50.0%)	18 (60.0%)	1.5 (0.50-4.48)	
Eating Disorders	<5	<5	-	
Neurodevelopmental Disorders	<5	<5	-	
Substance Use Disorders	<5	<5	0.36 (0.06-2.18)	
To Be Determined	<5	<5	0.79 (0.04-13.74)	
Missing	<5	<5	-	
Priority Stream, Yes	5 (20.8%)	5 (16.7%)	0.76 (0.04-13.74)	
Specific Care @ IWK, Yes	(20.8%)	9 (30.0%)	1.63 (0.46-5.79)	
So	cioeconomic Charact	eristics		
DA-Level Median Household	\$37,340 (27,969-	\$39,061 (33,730-		
Income/year (IQR)	43,563)	46,818)	1.00 (0.99-1.00)	
DA-Level Median Percentage of Si	ngle-Parent Househo	lds		
<25 th centile (Low)	5 (20.8%)	<10	3.32 (0.79-20.3)	
$25^{\text{th}} - 75^{\text{th}}$ centile (Moderate)	9 (37.5%)	18 (60.0%)	5.0 (1.21-20.72)	
>75 th centile (High)	10 (41.7%)	<5	Reference	
Health Service Use				
Median number of adult outpatient	0	5.5 (4-9)	-	
visits in 6-months (IQR)				
Median time to first adult	-	51.5 (33.5-89)	-	
outpatient MHA visit, days (IQR)				
Any Youth MHA ED use	7 (29.2%)	13 (43.3%)	1.86 (0.59-5.86)	
Any Adult MHA ED Use	<5	8 (26.7%)	3.99 (0.75-21.33)	
Median number of adult MHA	1 (1-1)	1 (1-2)	-	
related ED visits in 6 months (IQR)				

Supplemental Table 6: Characteristics of Youth Known to Stay Connected meeting the 2-visit Definition of Attendance

Bold indicates statistically significant association (p<0.05)

Presenting concerns were coded as yes/no for each category independently.

- indicates the association was not modelled

Cell sizes <5 were suppressed for confidentiality

CHAPTER 4: CONCLUSION

4.1 OVERVIEW OF RESULTS

The overarching objective of this master's thesis was to improve our understanding of transition aged youth accessing publicly funded MHA services in Nova Scotia and identify potential inequities using routinely collected health administrative data. Specifically, we aimed to: 1) describe the demographics and service use patterns of transition aged youth; 2) measure the associations between clinical, demographic, and socioeconomic factors with attendance to adult MHA services; 3) assess the sensitivity of these associations using a novel two-visit definition of attendance. These objectives were achieved through both a review of the literature and an empirical analysis.

First, the literature review identified several common gaps in the current transitions literature, which we used to inform our analyses in Chapter 3. While few studies have been conducted using routinely collected administrative data, they are often limited in the variables that have been investigated, their interpretations in the context of inequities, and in the length of observation period used to observe adult MHA use. While qualitative literature has provided rich insight into individual level experiences, it has thus far been limited in providing a system-wide view of transitioning youth, which is often more feasible using routinely collected health administrative data. However, without incorporating the findings of qualitative literature into quantitative health services research studies using routinely collected data, it will be difficult to fully address these gaps. We have deliberately used these limitations and perspectives found in qualitative literature to inform the analyses presented in Chapter 3.

Although the main results are quantitative, they are heavily informed by qualitative literature to help us better understand transition aged youth. The literature review and empirical chapters have not only improved our understanding of transition aged youth but have also identified where gaps in current data collection lie, and how these can be addressed in the future to provide deeper understandings of transition aged youth. More specifically, we have also addressed the following objectives through the empirical paper:

4.1.1 OBJECTIVE 1

For objective 1, our results indicated that most youth attending IWK MHA services aged 18.5 years and above do not subsequently attend adult MHA services at Nova Scotia Health between the ages of 19-19.5 years. Those who did not attend may not have done so for a host of possible reasons including that: they did not require a transition to adult services; they accessed private MHA services; they accessed NS Health MHA services outside of the Central Zone; or they required a transition but did not successfully complete this transition. We could not differentiate between these different outcomes with the current data. Of note, there were variables we intended to capture which would have provided further insights into these possibilities, but they were not available or were poor quality. These included clinical discharges, administrative discharges, cancellations, and no shows, which would have greatly improved the specificity of service pathways identified and helped minimize misclassification. The descriptive analysis also identified the difficulties in identifying a need to transition using routinely collected data, and the need to better track youths' disposition at time of transfer to adult MHA services. Nonetheless, describing the clinical, demographic, and socioeconomic characteristics of this vulnerable group, as well as their service use pathways has helped provide an overall picture of transition aged youth in the Nova Scotia Health Central Zone, which was not previously available.

4.1.2 OBJECTIVE 2

For objective 2, we found significant associations of both youth and adult ED use, certain presenting concern categories (serious and enduring mental disorders, to be determined, and addictions) consistent with known differences in service mandates between youth and adult services, and DA-level proportion of single parent families with attendance to outpatient adult MHA services. While we were not able to assess adjusted associations as originally intended, which would have allowed us to adjust for need and more accurately assess inequities, these unadjusted analyses have provided insight into areas for further investigation in future studies.

4.1.3 OBJECTIVE 3

For objective 3, we found that the associations with attendance to adult MHA services often increased in magnitude when using a two-visit definition versus a one-visit definition of attendance, which may be indicative of the increasing influence of inequities over an episode of care. We also found that a sizeable proportion (nearly 25%) of those who attended one visit did

not attend further visits, highlighting the need for more longitudinal follow up in measuring transitional health service outcomes, and the limitations of using only one visit to measure transition success, which is commonly used in existing literature. These high rates of disengagement after the first visit further support the need for improved capture of clinical and administrative discharges in adult MHA services and more longitudinal follow up of transitioning youth.

To conclude this thesis, I will elaborate on the strengths and limitations of the present work, as well as address recommendations for future quality improvement and research initiatives for youth transitioning between youth and adult MHA services.

4.2 STRENGTHS & LIMITATIONS

This research has several major strengths. It has also deliberately addressed major gaps identified in the literature. First, to our knowledge, this is the first study to be conducted in Nova Scotia investigating MHA transitions. Although there have been calls to action from clinicians, the Federal and Provincial government, and local organizations^{5,77} to investigate the transition between youth and adult MHA services, this is the first time a cohort of IWK youth at transition age have been investigated across the transition boundary. There is also substantial value in understanding what variables need to be captured to enable continuous quality assurance across the transition boundary with routinely collected administrative data.

Additionally, this is the first study, to our knowledge, to explicitly compare definitions of attendance to adult MHA services. It is well known that attendance to appointments alone may not indicate engagement, and attendance to one visit may not indicate a successful transition.²⁶ By looking further along a patient's trajectory in adult care, we have identified that factors are likely to have increasing influence over an episode of care, which is consistent with other work not specific to transitions.⁴⁴ While this study did not aim, nor have the capacity to validate this new definition, it is an important consideration when investigating transition success at the system level. Future work should further target the definition of transition success at the health system level, and work with patients and clinicians, to create a validated definition, and understand the potential implications of misclassification without looking more longitudinally in

adult services or having indicators of whether individuals were clinically or administratively discharged after their first visit.

Our use of Census of Population geography (ADA) as a cluster variable also provides unique insights for planning the provision of services. From a policy perspective, community interventions designed to support youth who fall through the cracks of the transition from youth to adult MHA services, offered in high-risk communities, may help mitigate some of the negative consequences of unsuccessful transitions, and help youth navigate the complex transition process. While identifying proactive interventions for patients in clinic based on clinical and/or demographic characteristics (e.g., high MHA-ED use) is likely to be the most efficacious point of intervention, community supports in vulnerable areas can help fill gaps in care across the transition boundary and help support those outside of the formal mental health system. Geographic approaches such as those used in the current study may help identify areas where these extra supports are most needed.

While the identification of our cohort captured all transition aged youth known to MHA services, there is currently no comprehensive indicator of a need to transition nor referral to adult services in routinely collected data. Thus, we cannot be certain what proportion of our cohort had unsuccessful transitions versus those who did not need or want to attend adult MHA services at transition age. We also ran into several obstacles, particularly with data quality, which forced us to deviate from the original protocol. First, we were unable to obtain data on clinical and administrative discharges due to inadequate recording in the administrative databases used. These two aspects represent very different clinical outcomes; clinical discharges may be seen as an optimal outcome, given that the care provider has deemed the patient no longer in need of services, while administrative discharges are more concerning, and reflect repeated cancellations or no-shows. While patient preferences for treatment should be considered when defining optimal transitions, and cancellations do not necessarily indicate an individual has transitioned to adult services, it would greatly improve the classification of youth if we had an indicator of an individuals need for continuing services.

Since we did not have these indicators, we further limited the age range of our cohort after identifying that those below the age of 18.5 years or above 19.5 years had much lower attendance in adult service than those between the ages of 18.5-19.5 years. After discussion with clinical experts, we realized that those who attended youth MHA services before the age of 18.5 years would not have yet been eligible to initiate a transition to adult services, thus would not have undergone a formal transition between youth and adult MHA care. For those over the age of 19.5 years at last IWK visit, we would not have observed them in adult services. If we had indicators of referrals, including the dates, we would be able to better specify observation windows for each individual, rather than relying on the 19th birthday as the index date. We also attempted to incorporate wait times for entry into adult MHA services in our definitions of attendance to improve our specificity. However, we found that these were highly variable across the study observation period; thus, setting a definitive cut-off (i.e., visit within three months of 19th birthday) would have introduced substantial misclassification bias. Keeping these highly variable, and often long, wait times in mind, even our six-month observation period may have been too short to identify trends in service usage for both outpatient and ED MHA service usage. Longer observation periods should be used in future investigations.

Lastly, we did not have information on individual-level indicators for socioeconomic status. While our area-level variables are informative, they must not be interpreted at the individual level. In many instances, individual- and area-level socioeconomic status may be discordant with one another. Routinely collecting these indicators would facilitate answering novel questions regarding inequities across an episode of care in those accessing services at the individual level.

4.3 IMPLICATIONS

Ultimately, there is a need for a well-documented, accountable, and intentional transitional process to ensure that youth are supported across their transition from youth to adult MHA services and subsequently improve their outcomes. A transition is not merely an administrative event, and there must be a clear and collaborative process implemented which involves youth and their families, as well as youth and adult MHA services. While there are system-wide transition guidelines, we need to ensure that these guidelines are upheld and implemented across the entire system to ensure youths' needs are being met, which currently is not feasible using

routinely collected data. The Stay Connected Mental Health Project is one example of a more formalized and specialized transition process spanning youth and adult MHA services. They also collect some of the important indicators of successful transitions which can be used to implement continuous quality improvement and ensure that youth who need a transition have a successful one. It is clear from our results that individuals in specific care clinics or known to Stay Connected are more likely to subsequently attend adult services. While this may be related to increased need, these services are known to implement intentional, planned, transitions that span youth and adult MHA services. Using the policies implemented by Stay Connected or specific care clinics as a guide to inform policies in the wider Community MHA system, and ensuring that services can be held accountable for upholding these policies through routinely collected indicators will help facilitate successful transitions. This will ultimately help ensure youth achieve their full potential by successfully transitioning to adult services when such a transition is needed.

We cannot address what we cannot measure, thus there is a need for improved data collection to facilitate quality improvement, research, and ultimately improve patient care across the transition period. Given that improvements to the transition between youth and adult MHA care have been identified as a priority by the Provincial Auditor General,⁷⁹ solutions to these gaps should be of interest to decision makers, to ensure that any intervention in the future that is implemented can be meaningfully assessed. As the province of Nova Scotia works towards implementing One Person One Record, there is great potential for addressing gaps in data collection, and better tracking individuals across their transition to adult MHA services, but we must ensure that meaningful variables are captured accurately and easy to access.^{8,11} From a clinical perspective, gaps in data collection only serve to limit clinicians' ability to help youth achieve a seamless transition,^{8,11} while from a research perspective, these gaps mask the complexity of the problem and hinder our ability to target and investigate interventions. Using clinician and patient perspectives to inform data systems is likely to subsequently improve patient outcomes, particularly in the transition period.

From an education perspective, it is important to further educate clinicians about the transition process and ensure that they are involved in the development of intentional transition processes

from the early stages. There is clearly a need for youth and adult MHA services to share their experiences, as well as further understand what supports youth require on both sides of the transition boundary to create a meaningful process for transitioning. Ensuring that clinicians are involved will help ensure that any formalized transition processes that are implemented are actually feasible, and that all individuals understand the need for additional supports across this vulnerable period. Supporting clinicians through these changes will help ensure that the processes are actually followed. Taking on a multi-disciplinary approach involving clinicians, youth and their families that emphasizes the current state of understanding of transitions, the importance of these transitions, and where the gaps in implementation and data collection lie will ultimately help develop a needs-based intentional process for transitioning between youth and adult MHA services.

4.5 FUTURE DIRECTIONS

To address these data gaps, novel study designs and collaboration from community partners may provide much needed answers. For example, conducting a mixed methods study which incorporates qualitative experiences of transitioning youth with quantitative data regarding their health service utilization may better define clusters of individuals and their subsequent patterns of care across the transition boundary. Similarly, incorporating clinician perspectives more formally would help identify if the perceived gaps in care identified in other jurisdictions are also relevant in the Canadian context. There are also opportunities for primary care or community-based services to be involved in this research to broaden the scope outside of formal Tier 3 services. Significant headway is being made in the European Union with the MILESTONE study, incorporating mixed methods techniques to understand MHA transitions at the system-and individual-level, in its final phase.⁶² Similar collaboration from patient-, government- and clinician-partners should be explored and prioritized in the Canadian context to address this significant gap in knowledge.

Beyond the data implications, the results also highlight the need to address the socioeconomic vulnerability of transition-aged youth. While we cannot assess the causality, the median household income of the cohort was below the Halifax poverty line. It is well established that low-income individuals are particularly vulnerable to the emergence of mental illness and are

more likely to have difficulties in attending services. Early interventions in low-income communities and in low-income families are likely to have positive downstream effects both within and outside of the transition to youth to adult MHA services. It is imperative that any future intervention or policy surrounding transition aged youth involve these individuals in consultation to better understand the unique barriers they face in accessing care, and how we can meaningfully address these barriers both within and outside of the formal health system.

Overall, the presented evidence confirms that the transition from youth to adult MHA services occurs at a critical period in one's development. Thus, transition processes for those in need should not introduce additional barriers for youth living with mental illness. While our results must be interpreted cautiously, they indicate a gap in the collection of routine indicators across the transition from youth to adult MHA services, which are likely similar in other specialties. This thesis has provided a necessary baseline for planning future research involving the transition from youth to adult MHA care, and confirmed the feasibility of conducting linkages between the IWK and Nova Scotia Health to answer new health system problems. Conducting further linkages with Statistics Canada (e.g., multiple deprivation index, Canadian Community Health Survey) or other more specific survey data, such as individual needs assessments, may also be beneficial in addressing these gaps in data collection while more long-term solutions at the health system level are developed. Further work should also compare trends in MHA-related ED use and inpatient hospitalizations to capture all health system use more comprehensively. Having routinely collected data available to map and understand the transition from youth to adult MHA services will help provide evidence-based guidelines for transitioning youth and avoid further youth from becoming lost in transition.

REFERENCES

- 1. Davidson J, Coniglio C. Child and Adolescent Mental Health and Addiction Services in the Halifax Regional Municipality: External Review.; 2013.
- Harpaz-Rotem I, Leslie D, Rosenheck RA. Treatment retention among children entering a new episode of mental health care. *Psychiatr Serv.* 2004;55(9):1022-1028. doi:10.1176/appi.ps.55.9.1022
- 3. Viner R, Keane M. *Youth Matters: Evidence-Based Best Practice for the Care of Young People in Hospital.* Caring for Children in the Health Services London; 1998.
- Cappelli M, Davidson S, Caldwell W, Bélair M-A, Vloet MA. Taking the Next Step Forward: Building a Responsive Mental Health and Addictions System for Emerging Adults.; 2015. doi:10.1002/jhm.798
- Government of Nova Scotia. Canada-Nova Scotia Home and Community Care and Mental Health and Addictions Services Funding Agreement. https://www.canada.ca/en/healthcanada/corporate/transparency/health-agreements/shared-health-priorities/novascotia.html. Published 2016.
- Cleverley K, Bennett K, Jeffs L. Identifying process and outcome indicators of successful transitions from child to adult mental health services: Protocol for a scoping review. *BMJ Open*. 2016;6(7). doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2016-012376
- Cleverley K, Lenters L, McCann E. "objectively terrifying": A qualitative study of youth's experiences of transitions out of child and adolescent mental health services at age 18. *BMC Psychiatry*. 2020;20(1):1-11. doi:10.1186/s12888-020-02516-0

- Cleverley K, Rowland E, Bennett K, Jeffs L, Gore D. Identifying core components and indicators of successful transitions from child to adult mental health services: a scoping review. *Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry*. 2018;(0123456789). doi:10.1007/s00787-018-1213-1
- Appleton R, Elahi F, Tuomainen H, Canaway A, Singh SP. "I'm just a long history of people rejecting referrals" experiences of young people who fell through the gap between child and adult mental health services. *Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry*. 2020;(0123456789). doi:10.1007/s00787-020-01526-3
- 10. Steele LS, Glazier RH, Lin E. Inequity in mental health care under Canadian universal health coverage. *Psychiatr Serv.* 2006;57(3):317-324. doi:10.1176/appi.ps.57.3.317
- Singh SP, Paul M, Ford T, et al. Process, outcome and experience of transition from child to adult mental healthcare: Multiperspective study. *Br J Psychiatry*. 2010;197(4):305-312. doi:10.1192/bjp.bp.109.075135
- Perera RH, Rogers SL, Edwards S, Hudman P, Malone C. Determinants of Transition From Child and Adolescent to Adult Mental Health Services: A Western Australian Pilot Study. *Aust Psychol.* 2017;52(3):184-190. doi:10.1111/ap.12192
- Public Health Agency of Canada. Report from the Canadian Chronic Disease Surveillance System: Mental Illness in Canada 2015.; 2015. doi:10.1002/yd.20038
- Canadian Institute For Health Information. Care for Children and Youth with Mental Disorders in Canada. Ottawa; 2015. doi:10.12927/hcq.2016.24616
- De Girolamo G, Dagani J, Purcell R, Cocchi A, McGorry PD. Age of onset of mental disorders and use of mental health services: Needs, opportunities and obstacles. *Epidemiol Psychiatr Sci.* 2012;21(1):47-57. doi:10.1017/S2045796011000746

- Kessler RC, Berglund P, Demler O, Jin R, Merikangas KR, Walters EE. Lifetime Prevalence and Age-of-Onset Distributions of DSM-IV Disorders. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*. 2005;62(June):593-602. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.62.6.593
- Sawyer SM, Afifi RA, Bearinger LH, et al. Adolescence: A foundation for future health. *Lancet*. 2012;379(9826):1630-1640. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60072-5
- 18. Waddell C, McEwan K, Shepherd CA, Offord DR, Hua JM. *A Public Health Strategy to Improve the Mental Health of Canadian Children*. Vol 50.; 2005.
- Mental Health Commission of Canada. Making the Case for Investing in Mental Health in Canada. 2010:1-27.
 http://www.mentalhealthcommission.ca/English/system/files/private/document/Investing_
 in Mental Health FINAL Version ENG.pdf.
- 20. McLaren S, Belling R, Paul M, et al. "Talking a different language": An exploration of the influence of organizational cultures and working practices on transition from child to adult mental health services. *BMC Health Serv Res.* 2013;13(1):1. doi:10.1186/1472-6963-13-254
- Nguyen T, Embrett MG, Barr NG, et al. Preventing Youth from Falling Through the Cracks Between Child/Adolescent and Adult Mental Health Services: A Systematic Review of Models of Care. *Community Ment Health J.* 2017;53(4):375-382. doi:10.1007/s10597-017-0098-7
- Mandarino K. Transitional-Age Youths: Barriers to Accessing Adult Mental Health Services and the Changing Definition of Adolescence. *J Hum Behav Soc Environ*. 2014;24(4):462-474. doi:10.1080/10911359.2013.835760

- 23. McNicholas F, Adamson M, McNamara N, et al. Who is in the transition gap? Transition from CAMHS to AMHS in the Republic of Ireland. *Ir J Psychol Med.* 2015;32(1):61-69.
- Blum RWM, Garell D, Hodgman CH, et al. Transition from child-centered to adult healthcare systems for adolescents with chronic conditions: A position paper of the Society for Adolescent Medicine. *J Adolesc Heal*. 1993;14(7):570-576. doi:10.1016/1054-139X(93)90143-D
- Signorini G, Singh SP, Marsanic VB, et al. The interface between child/adolescent and adult mental health services: results from a European 28-country survey. *Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry*. 2018;27(4):501-511. doi:10.1007/s00787-018-1112-5
- Appleton R, Connell C, Fairclough E, Tuomainen H, Singh SP. Outcomes of young people who reach the transition boundary of child and adolescent mental health services: a systematic review. *Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry*. 2019;28(11):1431-1446. doi:10.1007/s00787-019-01307-7
- Islam Z, Ford T, Kramer T, et al. Mind how you cross the gap! Outcomes for young people who failed to make the transition from child to adult services: The TRACK study. *BJPsych Bull*. 2016;40(3):142-148. doi:10.1192/pb.bp.115.050690
- McGorry PD. The specialist youth mental health model: strengthening the weakest link in the public mental health system. *Med J Aust*. 2007;187(7 Suppl):53-56. doi:10.5694/j.1326-5377.2007.tb01338.x
- Hovish K, Weaver T, Islam Z, Paul M, Singh SP. Transition experiences of mental health service users, parents, and professionals in the United Kingdom: A qualitative study. *Psychiatr Rehabil J.* 2012;35(3):251-257. doi:10.2975/35.3.2012.251.257

- Sukhera J, Fisman S, Davidson S. Mind the gap: a review of mental health service delivery for transition age youth. *Vulnerable Child Youth Stud.* 2015;10(4):271-280. doi:10.1080/17450128.2015.1080393
- Davis M. Addressing the Needs of Youth in Transition to Adulthood. *Adm Policy Ment Health*. 2003;30(6):495-509.
- Kingsbury S, York A. The 5 Big Ideas. http://capa.co.uk/homes/5bigideas.htm. Accessed February 10, 2020.
- IWK Health Centre & Nova Scotia Health Authority. Mental Health and Addictions: Children, Adolescents and Their Families Provincial Tier 3 Service Criteria: NSHA & IWK.; 2017.
- 34. Nova Scotia Health Authority. Provincial Tier 3 Adult Service Criteria. Halifax; 2018.
- 35. Arcelus J, Bouman WP, Morgan JF. Treating young people with eating disorders: transition from child mental health to specialist adult eating disorder services. *Eur Eat Disord Rev Prof J Eat Disord Assoc.* 2008;16(1):30-36.
- Leavey G, McGrellis S, Forbes T, et al. Improving mental health pathways and care for adolescents in transition to adult services (IMPACT): a retrospective case note review of social and clinical determinants of transition. *Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol*. 2019;54(8):955-963. doi:10.1007/s00127-019-01684-z
- Parliament of Canada. *Canada Health Act.*; 1985. https://lawslois.justice.gc.ca/eng/acts/c-6/page-1.html. Accessed September 24, 2020.
- Tudor Hart J. THE INVERSE CARE LAW. *Lancet*. 1971;297(7696):405-412. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(71)92410-X
- Wagstaff A, Doorslaer E V. Measuring and Testing for Inequity in the Delivery of Health Care. J Hum Resour. 2000;35(4). doi:10.2307/146369
- Pearlson GD, Schlaepfer TE. Sex Differences in Schizophrenia. Arch Gen Psychiatry. 1997;54(2):189. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.1997.01830140101019
- Mental Health Commission of Canada. Strengthening the Case for Investing in Canada's Mental Health System: Economic Considerations.; 2017.
 http://www.mentalhealthcommission.ca. Accessed April 28, 2020.
- Smedley BD, Stith AY, Nelson AR. Unequal Treatment: Confronting Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Health Care. Washington, D.C.: The National Academies Press; 2003. doi:10.17226/12875
- 43. Lê Cook B, McGuire TG, Zuvekas SH. Measuring trends in racial/ethnic health care disparities. *Med Care Res Rev.* 2009;66(1):23-48. doi:10.1177/1077558708323607
- Lê Cook B, Zuvekas SH, Carson N, Wayne GF, Vesper A, McGuire TG. Assessing racial/ethnic disparities in treatment across episodes of mental health care. *Health Serv Res.* 2014;49(1):206-229. doi:10.1111/1475-6773.12095
- 45. Steele L, Dewa C, Lee K. Socioeconomic Status and Self-Reported Barriers to Mental Health Service Use. Vol 52.; 2007.
- 46. Reiss F. Socioeconomic inequalities and mental health problems in children and adolescents: A systematic review. *Soc Sci Med*. 2013;90:24-31. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2013.04.026
- 47. Flisher AJ, Kramer RA, Grosser RC, et al. Correlates of unmet need for mental health services by children and adolescents. *Psychol Med.* 1997;27(5):1145-1154. doi:10.1017/S0033291797005412

- 48. Chateau D. Population and communities: Characterizing neighbourhood attributes and deprivation. In: *Canadian Population Health Initiative Regional Workshop on The Determinants of Healthy Communities, Saskatoon, SK.*; 2003.
- Chen MY, Shiao YC, Gau YM. Comparison of adolescent health-related behavior in different family structures. *J Nurs Res.* 2007;15(1):1-10. doi:10.1097/01.JNR.0000387594.86790.fa
- 50. Lee D, McLanahan S. Family structure transitions and child development: Instability, selection, and population heterogeneity. *Am Sociol Rev.* 2015;80(4):738-763.
- 51. Mulvale GM, Nguyen TD, Miatello AM, Embrett MG, Wakefield PA, Randall GE. Lost in transition or translation? Care philosophies and transitions between child and youth and adult mental health services: a systematic review. *J Ment Heal*. 2019;28(4):379-388. doi:10.3109/09638237.2015.1124389
- McNamara N, Coyne I, Ford T, Paul M, Singh S, McNicholas F. Exploring social identity change during mental healthcare transition. *Eur J Soc Psychol*. 2017;47(7):889-903. doi:10.1002/ejsp.2329
- Mullings L, Schulz AJ. Intersectionality and Health: An Introduction. In: Schulz A, Mullings L, eds. *Gender, Race, Class, & Health: Intersectional Approoaches*. Jossey-Bass; 2006:3-17.
- Cook BL, Hou SSY, Lee-Tauler SY, Progovac AM, Samson F, Sanchez MJ. A Review of Mental Health and Mental Health Care Disparities Research: 2011-2014. *Med Care Res Rev.* 2019;76(6):683-710. doi:10.1177/1077558718780592
- Mahalingam R, Balan S, Haritatos J. Engendering immigrant psychology: An intersectionality perspective. *Sex Roles*. 2008;59(5-6):326-336. doi:10.1007/s11199-008-9495-2

- Kelly UA. Integrating intersectionality and biomedicine in health disparities research. Adv Nurs Sci. 2009;32(2). doi:10.1097/ANS.0b013e3181a3b3fc
- 57. Betancourt TS, Frounfelker R, Mishra T, Hussein A, Falzarano R. Addressing health disparities in the mental health of refugee children and adolescents through community-based participatory research: A study in 2 communities. *Am J Public Health*. 2015;105(Suppl 3):S475-S482. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2014.302504
- 58. Flouri E, Midouhas E, Ruddy A. Socio-economic status and family structure differences in early trajectories of child adjustment: Individual and neighbourhood effects. *Heal Place*. 2016;37:8-15. doi:10.1016/j.healthplace.2015.11.005
- Bell S, Wilson K, Bissonnette L, Shah T. Access to Primary Health Care: Does Neighborhood of Residence Matter? *Ann Assoc Am Geogr.* 2013;103(1):85-105. doi:10.1080/00045608.2012.685050
- Taylor N, Fauset A, Harpin V. Young adults with ADHD: An analysis of their service needs on transfer to adult services. *Arch Dis Child*. 2010;95(7):513-517. doi:10.1136/adc.2009.164384
- Cappelli M, Davidson S, Racek J, et al. Transitioning Youth into Adult Mental Health and Addiction Services: An Outcomes Evaluation of the Youth Transition Project. *J Behav Heal Serv Res.* 2016;43(4):597-610. doi:10.1007/s11414-014-9440-9
- 62. Singh SP, Tuomainen H, De Girolamo G, et al. Protocol for a cohort study of adolescent mental health service users with a nested cluster randomised controlled trial to assess the clinical and cost-effectiveness of managed transition in improving transitions from child to adult mental health services. *BMJ Open*. 2017;7(10):1-19. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2017-016055

- Paul M, Ford T, Kramer T, Islam Z, Harley K, Singh SP. Transfers and transitions between child and adult mental health services. *Br J Psychiatry*. 2013;202(SUPPL. 54):36-41. doi:10.1192/bjp.bp.112.119198
- Van Walraven C, Oake N, Jennings A, Forster AJ. The association between continuity of care and outcomes: A systematic and critical review. *J Eval Clin Pract*. 2010;16(5):947-956. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2753.2009.01235.x
- 65. Singh SP. Transition of care from child to adult mental health services: The great divide. *Curr Opin Psychiatry*. 2009;22(4):386-390. doi:10.1097/YCO.0b013e32832c9221
- 66. Pottick KJ, Bilder S, Stoep A Vander, Warner LA, Alvarez MF. University of South Florida, A System of Care for Children's Mental Health, Expanding the Research Base. J Behav Health Serv Res. 2007:373-389.
- Gandhi S, Chiu M, Lam K, Cairney JC, Guttmann A, Kurdyak P. Mental health service use among children and youth in Ontario: Population-based trends over time. *Can J Psychiatry*. 2016;61(2):119-124. doi:10.1177/0706743715621254
- 68. Canadian Institute For Health Information. *Health System Resources for Mental Health and Addictions Care in Canada, July 2019.*; 2019.
- 69. Newton AS, Rosychuk RJ, Dong K, Curran J, Slomp M, McGrath PJ. Emergency health care use and follow-up among sociodemographic groups of children who visit emergency departments for mental health crises. *Cmaj.* 2012;184(12):665-674. doi:10.1503/cmaj.111697
- Richards M, Vostanis P. Interprofessional perspectives on transitional mental health services for young people aged 16-19 years. *J Interprof Care*. 2004;18(2):115-128. doi:10.1080/13561820410001686882

- 71. Campbell L, Lovas D, Withers E, Peacock K. Opening the Door: Inviting Youth and Parent Perspectives on Research Directions in Youth Mental Health Emergency Department Use. *Res Involv Engagem*. 2020;6(26).
- Paul M, Street C, Wheeler N, Singh SP. Transition to adult services for young people with mental health needs: A systematic review. *Clin Child Psychol Psychiatry*. 2015;20(3):436-457. doi:10.1177/1359104514526603
- 73. Cleverley K, Bennett KJ, Brennenstuhl S, et al. Longitudinal Youth in Transition Study (LYiTS): Protocol for a multicentre prospective cohort study of youth transitioning out of child and adolescent mental health services at age 18. *BMJ Open*. 2020;10(2):1-7. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2019-035744
- 74. Schraeder KE, Reid GJ. Who Should Transition? Defining a Target Population of Youth with Depression and Anxiety That Will Require Adult Mental Health Care. *J Behav Heal Serv Res.* 2017;44(2):316-330. doi:10.1007/s11414-015-9495-2
- Singh SP, Tuomainen H. Transition from child to adult mental health services: Needs, barriers, experiences and new models of care. *World Psychiatry*. 2015;14(3):358-361. doi:10.1002/wps.20266
- 76. NSHA Central Zone. Guidelines for Transition of Youth to Adult Mental Health and Addiction Services within NS Health Authority Central Zone. 2015:1-8.
- 77. Mental Health Commission of Canada. The Mental Health Strategy for Canada: A Youth Perspective. 2016:30. https://www.mentalhealthcommission.ca/sites/default/files/2016-07/Youth_Strategy_Eng_2016.pdf.
- Queen Elizabeth II Health Sciences Centre Foundation. *The Stay Connected Mental Health Project: Backgrounder*. Halifax doi:10.7202/1016404ar

- Pickup MA. Impact Report of the Auditor General to the Nova Scotia House of Assembly.
 Halifax; 2017. http://www.oag-ns.ca. Accessed April 8, 2020.
- Brown C, Johnstone M, Ross N. 2021 Repositioning Social Work Practice in Mental Health in Nova Scotia. Halifax, Nova Scotia; 2021.
- World Health Organization. ICD ICD-9-CM International Classification of Diseases, Ninth Revision, Clinical Modification. Geneva; 1978. https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/icd/icd9cm.htm. Accessed February 25, 2021.
- Canadian Institute for Health Information. A Guide to Intervention Code Assignment. Ottawa; 2018. www.cihi.ca. Accessed February 25, 2021.
- 83. Statistics Canada. Postal Code OM Conversion File. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/en/catalogue/92-154-X. Published 2017. Accessed May 16, 2021.
- Wilens TE, Spencer TJ. Understanding attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder from childhood to adulthood. *Postgrad Med*. 2010;122(5):97-109. doi:10.3810/pgm.2010.09.2206
- Fleury MJ, Rochette L, Grenier G, et al. Factors associated with emergency department use for mental health reasons among low, moderate and high users. *Gen Hosp Psychiatry*. 2019;60:111-119. doi:10.1016/j.genhosppsych.2019.07.006
- Gentil L, Grenier G, Vasiliadis H-M, Huỳnh C, Fleury M-J. Predictors of Recurrent High Emergency Department Use among Patients with Mental Disorders. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. 2021;18(9):4559.

- 87. Statistics Canada. Market Basket Measure (MBM) thresholds for the reference family by Market Basket Measure region, component and base year. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/t1/tbl1/en/tv.action?pid=1110006601. Published 2021. Accessed June 8, 2021.
- 88. Office of the Auditor General. Independent Auditor's Report: Health and Wellness, IWK Health Centre, and Nova Scotia Health Authority: Mental Health Services. 2017;(November):21-43. https://oagns.ca/sites/default/files/publications/Ch2Nov2017_2.pdf.
- Lyons JS. Communimetrics: A Communication Theory of Measurement in Human Service Settings. Springer US; 2009. doi:10.1007/978-0-387-92822-7
- 90. Issakidis C, Teesson M. Measurement of Need for Care: A Trial of the Camberwell Assessment of Need and the Health of the Nation Outcome Scales. *Aust New Zeal J Psychiatry*. 1999;33(5):754-759. doi:10.1080/j.1440-1614.1999.00598.x

Appendix 1: Variable Dictionary

Source Dataset	Variable	Description	Measureme nt	Why are we using it?
IWK	Sex	Male/Female	Binary	Individual Level Covariate
IWK	Age	At time of registration for last recorded outpatient CMHA appointment in IWK.	Continuous	Individual Level Covariate,
IWK	Visit Date	Date of last known IWK MHA appointment	Date	Identify the start of the transition
IWK	Presenting Concern	Categorization of presenting concern from DSS.	Categorical	Individual Level Covariate
IWK	Priority Code Flag	On initial intake to IWK services, given priority or regular code. Priority = 7 day timeline, Regular = 28 day timeline.	Binary	Individual Level Covariate
IWK	Postal Code	Postal code at last known visit to outpatient IWK MHA care.	Categorical	For linkage with Census data via PCCF for sociodemographic variables.
IWK	Mental Health- Related ED Use	The codes include: Substance Use : ICD-10 F1-19, F55 Mental Health : ICD-10 F00- 09, F53.1, G30, R41.3, F20-29, R41.0, F30-33, F34.0, F32.1, F34.8, F34.9, F38, F39, F53.0, F40-F42, F93.0-93.2, F32.0, F43.1, F43.8, F43.9, F60-62, F68–69, F43.2, F44, F45, F48.0, F48.1, F48.8-48.9, F53.8-53.9, F50-52, F54, F59, F63-F66, F70-73, F78-92, F93.0, F93.3, F93.8, F93.9, F94, F95, F98-99, O99.3 Assessment : ICD-10 Z03.2 Counselling : CCI 6.AA.10.xx	Binary	Confounder
Census	Family Structure (CHASS code: v168/(v16 8+v184))	% of single parent households. Derived from the total lone parent census families in private households/total families with children.	Continuous (%)	Area-Level Covariate

Source	Variable	Description	Measureme	Why are we using it?
Dataset			nt	
Census	Median	Median annual household	Continuous	Area-Level Covariate
	Household	income after tax.		
	Income			
	(CHASS			
	code:			
NG	V1933)			
NS	Visit Date	Date of First outpatient MHA	Date	I o identify the length of
HEAL		VISIT		the transition.
IH	T '.'		D'	
NS	Iransition	Attendance to 1 appointment in	Binary	Analytic & Descriptive
HEAL	Success	NS HEALTH CMHA within 2		Outcome
IH		months of 19 th birthday, as well		
		as I additional attendance		
		within 5-/" month after initial		
NG			C t	
NS IIE AI	MH-	The codes include: Substance	Count	Descriptive Outcome
HEAL	related ED	Use: ICD-9 303-306		
IH	V 1S1ts	Mental Health: ICD-9 290-		
		319 E90-959		
		Assessment: ICD 9 V/189		
NC	No. Charry	Vounselling: CCI 6.AA.10.XX	Dinamy	Descriptive enterne
	INO-SHOW	No attendance to appointment	Binary	Descriptive outcome
TII		without notice.		
	Stor	HCN is known to SCMHD	Dinomy	Detential accuriate in
	Stay	Ideal "gold standard" of	Dinal y	rotential covariate in
TII	Dontioinati	transitions		regression analyses. Only
ІП	Participati	transitions.		2018
NS	Spacial	IWK and NS HEALTH have	Dinomy	2010. Sonsitivity analyses
HEVI	Care	several specialty care clinics	Dillary	including these patients
TH	Clinic	These clinics often have well		and excluding them
111	Patient	developed transition guidelines		and excluding them.
	Flag	and processes relative to		
	1 105	and processes relative to	1	

Appendix 2: Transition Pathway Map



Figure 1. Potential health service utilization pathways of youth in Mental Health & Addictions care at the IWK. Green indicates optimal outcomes, red sub-optimal, and grey unmeasurable with the current design.

Appendix 3: IWK-NS Health Transition Guidelines

In 2015 NS Health and the IWK developed a set of transition guidelines outlining how care is to be delivered over the course of the transition period. At the age of 18.5, individuals receiving care at the IWK are to be referred to the NS Health MHA program. A single transition coordinator (nurse) receives the referral, and using the NS Health Tier 3 mandate makes a determination of need, which may or may not be the same as that determination made from the IWK. The transition coordinator then matches the patient with the most appropriate provider, with the first adult appointment being booked close to the patient's 19th birthday. Although care may continue at the IWK past one's 19th birthday, the transition of MHA care at NS Health cannot begin before turning 19 years old. Ideally the transition should include a period of shared management, or hand over hand care where the transitioning individual and their family are working with both youth and adult providers. Youth and their families are expected to be fully involved in the transition planning to achieve the best outcomes.